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Emerson creates long-term value for its shareholders, customers, and employees
through a passionate commitment to excellence and a disciplined management
process, which together drive sustained competitive advantage in a dynamic global
market. We achieve success by developing industry-leading technology, investing
globally, and delivering results for customers.
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Dear Shareholders,
In 2004, Emerson delivered strong
ﬁnancial and operational performance
with record sales and operating cash
ﬂow as well as a double-digit earnings
per share increase. In addition, we
continued to strengthen our global
competitive position, advance
technology leadership, and enhance our
ability to deliver solutions to customers.

2004 Financial and
Operational Highlights
Net sales were a record $15.6 billion, up
12 percent from $14.0 billion in ﬁscal
2003. Sales were driven by 20 percent
gains in our major growth initiatives,
including strong performance in the
emerging markets of Asia-Paciﬁc,
Eastern Europe, Latin America, and the
David N. Farr, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Middle East.
Earnings per share from continuing
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operations increased 24 percent to
$2.98 for ﬁscal 2004, from $2.41 per
share in the prior year, excluding the

It means unwavering dedication to

one-time gain from the sale of the
Dura-Line business. Net earnings per

excellence in all we do. It means solving

share increased 15 percent to $2.98 for
ﬁscal 2004, compared with net earnings

problems for customers around the

per share of $2.59 for the prior year.
Fiscal 2004 dividends of $1.60 per share

world, creating a strong future for our
company, and generating excellent returns
for shareholders.
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represented our 48th consecutive annual

increase. Strong ﬁnancial performance

The increase in return on capital is a

process emphasizes intensive current

led the board of directors in November

result of improvements in proﬁtability,

and long-term planning, disciplined

2004 to increase the quarterly dividend

ﬁxed asset utilization, and working

control, and clear priorities. Each

to an annualized rate of $1.66 per share.

capital efﬁciency and is an important

priority is a critical component of

measure of our success in effectively

our ability to sustain competitive

using shareholder resources. We

advantage in a rapidly changing

achieved that increase while investing

global market, and each further

during the ﬁscal year in strategic

deﬁnes what it means to be Emerson.

Fundamental to our business strategy
is generating the cash ﬂow and
returns to fund growth, new product
development, acquisitions, and
dividends to shareholders. Operating

acquisitions that extend our global
reach and capabilities. The acquisition

Among these priorities, Emerson’s

of the outside plant and power systems

long history of technology

business of Marconi Corporation PLC,

investment and leadership provides

renamed Emerson Network Power

competitive advantages and market

Energy Systems – North America,

differentiation for our customers and

gave us a stronger position in the U.S.

for us. Our focus on sustaining and

For the past few years, Emerson has

telecom power industry. We also added

expanding this leadership is reﬂected

been accelerating improvement in

to our leading worldwide position

in the continuing investment

operating and capital efﬁciencies

in the process control business with

in research and new product

through extensive restructuring and a

the acquisition of Metran Industrial

development, which reached $486

shift to global best-cost manufacturing.

Group, one of the top suppliers of

million in 2004. We have established

Together with our lean manufacturing

measurement instrumentation and

best-cost engineering resources

initiatives, these accomplishments have

services for the process industry in

around the world that allow us to

strengthened our global competitive

Russia and Eastern Europe.

work seamlessly around the clock to

cash ﬂow for ﬁscal 2004 increased
28 percent to a record $2.2 billion.
Return on total capital increased to
14.2 percent from 12.7 percent, our
third consecutive annual improvement.

position and helped us overcome

increase the velocity with which we

pension costs during this period. This

Planning, Priorities,
and Performance

capital efﬁciency progress is reﬂected

Emerson is committed to a unique

higher levels of investment in new

in our improved average trade working

formal management process that

product development through the

capital ratio, which declined to 19.6

enables the company to focus sharply

recent economic downturn, which set

percent of sales in 2004, from 21.2

on creating value for shareholders

us apart from our competitors and

percent last year, led by an 11 percent

while anticipating changing economic

positioned us to beneﬁt quickly as the

improvement in inventory turnover.

and industry environments. This

global economy recovered.

the impact of increased material and

bring new products and technologies
to market. We decided to maintain

performance

One-Year Performance

We have a deep commitment to

Years ended September 30

investing in people, ﬁxed assets,
acquisitions, and service capabilities

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

2003

2004

Percent
Change

that strengthen our global position
and extend our reach to better serve

Sales

customers and compete effectively.

$13,958

$15,615

11.9%

$1,089

$1,257

15.4%

EPS, Continuing Operations

$2.41

$2.98

23.7%

understand their markets, customize

Net Earnings Per Share

$2.59

$2.98

15.1%

product platforms, and combine

Dividends Per Share

$1.57

$1.60

1.9%

Operating Cash Flow

$1,731

$2,216

28.0%

Return on Total Capital

12.7%

14.2%

Return on Equity

17.9%

18.4%

Net Earnings

The goal is to be closer to customers
wherever they are – to better

local support with our best-cost
manufacturing positions worldwide.
Signiﬁcant sales growth outside the
United States is one measure of our
long-term success, particularly in
emerging growth markets. In 2004,
sales to emerging markets grew

Five-Year Performance

more than 20 percent to $3.2 billion,
including a 34 percent increase in China

Years ended September 30

and very strong double-digit increases

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

in Eastern Europe and Russia.

1999

2004

5-Year CAGR

$14,270

$15,615

1.8%

$1,314

$1,257

(0.9%)

Net Earnings Per Share

$3.00

$2.98

(0.1%)

Dividends Per Share

$1.30

$1.60

4.2%

comprehensive solutions and services

Operating Cash Flow

$1,811

$2,216

4.1%

enables our customers to differentiate

Return on Total Capital

16.4%

14.2%

Return on Equity

21.9%

18.4%

Over the past several years we have

Sales
Net Earnings

made signiﬁcant progress transforming
Emerson to a company with a more
intense customer focus. Combining
industry-leading products with

themselves in their markets. Listening
to our customers and to their end
customers allows us to deliver truly
unique and innovative solutions that
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make an impact on their success.

in our “Statement of Corporate

mostly within the United States.

As a result, Emerson’s solutions

Governance Principles and Practices,”

When he stepped down in September,

and services currently generate

which is accessible on the company’s

Emerson was well established as a

approximately 10 percent of sales

Web site.

leading technology-based global

and will continue to be one of our top
growth initiatives.

We know that everything we
accomplish rests on the skill, integrity,

manufacturing company with sales of
$15.6 billion. His contributions cannot
be overestimated in areas such as new

Delivering on these priorities has

commitment, and dedication of our

enabled us to create strong business

employees. We offer challenging, fair,

platforms – Process Management,

and rewarding employment for our

Network Power, Climate Technologies,

employees and set high expectations

Industrial Automation, and Appliance

for performance. In 2004, our

and Tools – that generate unique

employees around the world again

competitive advantages for our

met the challenge, and I thank them

I have had the pleasure of working

customers and value for shareholders.

for their outstanding contributions

with Chuck for over 23 years. No

to strengthening our position for

one could have asked for a more

the future.

capable mentor, trusted advisor, or

Chuck Knight and Emerson

valued friend.

I would like to close with a personal

Going forward, Emerson will

comment. In September, Charles F.

continue to embody the disciplined

Knight retired as chairman of Emerson

management process and high

after serving with commitment,

standards that Chuck represents. By

intensity, and integrity for over 30 years.

maintaining focus and intensity on our

He has been named to the honorary

key priorities, we are optimistic we

position of chairman emeritus.

will continue to deliver further growth

Commitment
to High Standards
Everything we do reﬂects a
commitment to the highest standards
of personal and corporate ethics. We
reinforce these standards through
ongoing training programs that reach
all of our employees around the world.
Further, Emerson’s commitment
to its shareholders includes a clear

product development, acquisitions,
operational excellence, strategy
and planning, the development of
countless leaders, and the practice
of management itself.

in sales, proﬁtability, and earnings in

and well-thought-out approach to

The positive impact Chuck had

corporate and business governance. For

on our company and on behalf of

many years Emerson has had speciﬁc

our shareholders over those three

and consistent standards for the

decades, and during his 27 years

structure, membership, functions, and

as CEO, was enormous. When he

responsibilities of its board and board

arrived, Emerson’s annual sales were

David N. Farr

committees. These are documented

approximately $800 million, and

Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

2005 and beyond.

What does it mean
to be a technology leader?
James G. Berges

It means creating change, setting new industry standards, maintaining

President

a strong commitment to research and development, and increasing
the pace of product development and speed to market. It means spending
in areas that offer the best returns, whether gains in market share,
strengthened competitive position, or better service to customers.
Technology leaders continually strengthen their ability to innovate.

Why does it matter?
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Technology leaders enjoy competitive

accelerate new product development.

advantage and market leadership, built

We continue to move toward our long-

upon products and solutions that com-

term goal of generating 40 percent of

petitors simply can’t match. At Emerson,

sales from products introduced within the

we’ve increased our technology velocity

past ﬁve years. As a result, we’re able to

by creating engineering centers around

deliver superior products and industry-

the world to speed innovation through

transforming technologies that increase

around-the-clock collaboration. In 2004,

our competitiveness in the high-potential

we expanded our investment in research

markets we serve, and create satisﬁed

and development to $486 million to

customers who rely on us again and again.

Ask Shanghai SECCO...

... a joint venture between
BP, Sinopec, and Shanghai
Petrochemical Corporation.
SECCO will be the ﬁrst of
several new petrochemical
facilities in China racing to
meet the country’s rapidly
growing need for plastics,
including food packaging,
computers, and automobile parts.
The world’s largest facility
of its kind, SECCO chose
Emerson’s PlantWeb®
digital architecture to give
it a complete solution,
including measurement,
valves, and services. This
technology will help the
facility maximize efﬁciency
and speed to market,
enabling SECCO to seize
opportunity ahead of
the competition.

velocity

8

Emerson 2004

Ask Thermo King...

... which needed to
improve the efﬁciency of
ocean-going refrigeration–
the most challenging
environment for protecting
perishable food. Temperatures below deck can
reach 122oF, so maintaining optimum food storage
temperatures as low as
-30oF pushes most compressors to their limits,
until now.
Thermo King chose
Emerson’s digital Copeland
Scroll™ compressor – the
only one that can easily
maintain optimum temperatures in such extreme
environments. It also reduces energy consumption
by up to 45 percent, setting
new industry standards in
safely transporting food.

What does it mean
to be a global company?
Edward L. Monser

Global companies do more than just sell products around the world. Being

Chief Operating Officer

global means creating value for customers by combining industry expertise and
deep knowledge of local markets with a responsive, world-class supply chain.
It means building global product platforms that can be tailored for each local
market and keeping product development, manufacturing, and sourcing close
to customers to offer better service – wherever they are.

Why does it matter?
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Truly global companies win, and so do

emerging markets such as Eastern

their customers. Today, nearly half of

Europe, Russia, and China. Just as impor-

Emerson’s sales come from outside of

tant, our ability to share our advanced

the United States. To effectively serve

industry knowledge across borders

our worldwide customers, we’ve placed

allows us to extend our brand leadership

our product development, manufactur-

and provide leading-edge solutions

ing, and service facilities close to them.

anywhere in the world. And we’re doing

This approach lowers costs for us as well

it in the most efﬁcient way possible,

as for our customers, and it is fundamen-

thanks to our recent efforts to rebalance

tal to our success in serving high-growth,

assets and expertise across the globe.

Ask Poland’s power industry...

... which had two goals
when Poland became a
free country in the early
1990s: stabilize the transmission grid to connect
to the European Union,
and reduce coal plant
emissions.
The major power generators
turned to Emerson Process
Management for industryleading software, systems,
and solutions to help
meet these goals. Today,
Emerson’s Ovation® and
SmartProcess® technology
play an essential role in controlling the power generation facilities that provide
nearly half of the country’s
electricity. The result: a
stable, reliable ﬂow of electricity that powers Poland’s
emerging economy while
reducing emissions by up
to 25 percent.

reach
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Ask China Mobile...

... whose network has
the capacity and quality
to support China’s fastgrowing economy. With
more than 315 million
users, China is the world’s
largest mobile phone
market. The market continues to grow rapidly, driven
by the needs of China’s
1.3 billion population.
To serve this fast-growing
market, China Mobile
tapped its long-time relationship with Emerson.
Emerson provides about
35 percent of the network
power products and
services that support telecommunications networks
in China. Emerson’s technology, training, and service
facilities, located throughout China, will help the
network run smoothly.

What does it mean
to be customer-focused?
Charles A. Peters

Today’s business customers demand industry-leading products and

Senior Executive Vice President

solutions that give them a competitive edge in their markets. They ask
their customers about their needs and then leverage product breadth,
global presence, superior technology, and vast industry experience
to provide products and solutions that deliver bottom-line results.
Customer-focused companies anticipate and deliver.

Why does it matter?
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Going beyond the traditional customer/

and engineering. Our product-develop-

supplier relationship to become true part-

ment process starts by talking with our

ners with our customers leads to trust.

customers to understand their needs and

Our customers know they can count on us

responding with innovative solutions,

to provide the proprietary expertise that

such as Web-based customer service and

will help them differentiate themselves in

product support. This helps our custom-

the marketplace. Emerson stays close to

ers better serve their customers. That’s

customers and offers a record of proven

why our customers believe us when we

performance with innovative technology

say, “Consider it Solved.”

Ask The Home Depot...

... which meets the needs
of contractors with a comprehensive line of RIDGID®
professional tools. Among
other results from a survey,
Emerson discovered that
contractors wanted a line of
wet/dry vacs with increased
versatility in a quieter, more
rugged design.
With additional input from
The Home Depot, Emerson
created the new RIDGID®
Pro line wet/dry vacs with
features such as unique ﬁlter
sensor technology, powerful suction, and a 25 percent
reduction in noise. The
new RIDGID® Pro lines are
among the fastest-growing
and most successful products at The Home Depot.

impact
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Ask ASDA/Wal-Mart...

... a leading supermarket retailer in the United
Kingdom that needed to
reduce maintenance costs
and offset rising energy
prices. ASDA chose
Emerson technology to
achieve peak performance
from its refrigeration
systems at lower costs.
Emerson also provided
remote monitoring capabilities that continually analyze
system performance at
50 of the chain’s stores,
allowing ASDA to quickly
and easily identify problems
before they result in expensive losses. Altogether,
Emerson has helped ASDA
reduce energy and maintenance costs by nearly
10 percent.

Financial Review
Our long-term ﬁnancial objective is to create
value through stock price appreciation and
cash distribution to our shareholders. This is
accomplished through a disciplined management process that is focused on growing cash
ﬂow and making investments with returns
that exceed our cost of capital.
In 2004 we invested $414 million in acquisitions and $400 million in capital expenditures while paying $675 million in dividends
and buying back $157 million in stock.
We also improved our capital efﬁciency
by reducing operating working capital to
11 percent of sales from 13 percent of
sales in 2003, and return on total capital
Walter J. Galvin, Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

increased to 14.2 percent from 12.7 percent
last year. Operating cash ﬂow improved

Emerson maintains a conservative

28 percent to $2.2 billion in 2004.

financial structure to provide the

We are proud of these achievements,
highlighted by record sales and strong

strength and flexibility necessary to
achieve our strategic objectives.

earnings. We understand that these
ﬁnancials are our report card to the
shareholders. Our goal throughout the
following pages, as in all ﬁnancial reporting,
is to present results in a complete,
accurate, and transparent manner.
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Report of Management
The Company’s management is responsible for the integrity and accuracy of the financial
statements. Management believes that the financial statements for the three years ended
September 30, 2004, have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles appropriate in the circumstances. In preparing the financial statements, management
makes informed judgments and estimates where necessary to reflect the expected effects of
events and transactions that have not been completed. The Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures ensure that material information required to be disclosed is recorded, processed,
summarized and communicated to management and reported within the required time periods.
In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of the financial statements, management relies
on a system of internal accounting control. This system is designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s authorization and recorded properly to permit the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The design of
this system recognizes that errors or irregularities may occur and that estimates and judgments
are required to assess the relative cost and expected benefits of the controls. Management
believes that the Company’s accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors
or irregularities that could be material to the financial statements are prevented or would be
detected within a timely period.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of independent
Directors, is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. The Audit
Committee meets with management and the internal auditors periodically to review the work
of each and to monitor the discharge by each of its responsibilities. The Audit Committee also
meets periodically with the independent auditors who have free access to the Audit Committee
and the Board of Directors to discuss the quality and acceptability of the Company’s financial
reporting, internal controls, as well as non-audit-related services.
The independent auditors are engaged to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. Their opinion is based on procedures which they believe to be sufficient to
provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements contain no material errors.

David N. Farr
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

Walter J. Galvin
Senior Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

integrity

OVERVIEW

Sales

Emerson achieved record sales and strong earnings in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Sales
and earnings for all of the business segments increased over the prior year. The climate technologies and
appliance and tools businesses drove U.S. sales gains, while the process management, industrial automation
and network power businesses drove international sales growth. Strong growth in Asia, the United States and
Latin America, moderate gains in Europe and favorable exchange rates contributed to these results. Profit
margins improved primarily due to leverage on higher sales volume and benefits from previous rationalization
actions. The Company continues to manage commodity cost inflation pressure through sourcing initiatives,
productivity improvements and sales price. Emerson’s financial position remains strong and the Company
continues to generate substantial cash flow.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year 2004 Compared With Fiscal Year 2003

$4

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
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(dollars in billions)
Emerson achieved record sales of
$15.6 billion in 2004. Sales for all
of the business segments increased
over the prior year.

2003

Sales
Gross profit
Percent of sales
SG&A
Percent of sales
Other deductions, net
Interest expense, net
Pretax earnings
Earnings from continuing operations
Net earnings

$13,958)
$ 4,898)
35.1%)
$ 2,935)
21.0%)
$ 318)
$ 231)
$ 1,414)
$ 1,013)
$ 1,089)

Continuing operations – EPS
Net earnings – EPS

$
$

2.41)
2.59)

2004

Change

15,615)
5,566)
35.6%)
3,281)
21.0%)
223)
210)
1,852)
1,257)
1,257)

12%)
14%)

2.98)
2.98)

24%)
15%)

31%)
24%)
15%)

Net Sales
Net sales for fiscal 2004 were a record $15.6 billion, an increase of almost $1.7 billion, or 12 percent, over
net sales of $14.0 billion for fiscal 2003, with both U.S. and international sales contributing. The consolidated
results reflect improving markets and increases in all five business segments, with an underlying sales
(which exclude acquisitions, divestitures and currency) increase of 8 percent ($1,181 million) and an
approximate 4 percentage point ($488 million) favorable impact from the strengthening Euro and other
currencies. The underlying sales increase of 8 percent was driven by 8 percent growth in the United States
and a total international sales increase of 9 percent, which primarily reflects 20 percent growth in Asia and
4 percent growth in Europe. The Company estimates that the underlying growth reflects the net result of
an approximate 6 percentage point gain from volume and an approximate 3 percentage point impact from
market penetration gains, partially offset by an approximate 1 percentage point negative impact from lower
sales prices.

International Sales
International destination sales, including U.S. exports, increased 17 percent, to $7.4 billion in 2004,
representing 47 percent of the Company’s total sales. U.S. exports were up 5 percent compared to the prior
year, at $939 million. International subsidiary sales, including shipments to the United States, were $6.6 billion
in 2004, up 18 percent over 2003. Excluding the net 9 percent impact from acquisitions, divestitures, and
favorable currency translation, international subsidiary sales increased 9 percent compared to the prior year.
Underlying destination sales grew 20 percent in Asia during the year, particularly in China, while sales grew
9 percent in Latin America and 4 percent in Europe.
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Acquisitions and Divestitures
During 2004, the Company acquired the North American outside plant and power systems business of Marconi
Corporation PLC, as well as several other smaller businesses for a total of approximately $414 million in cash. In
the third quarter of 2003, the Company sold the Dura-Line fiber-optic conduit business, which is reported as
discontinued operations. See discussion of Discontinued Operations below for additional information.

International Sales
$8

Costs and Expenses

$6

Cost of sales for fiscal 2004 and 2003 were $10.0 billion and $9.1 billion, respectively. Cost of sales as a percent
of net sales was 64.4 percent for 2004, compared with 64.9 percent in the prior year period. The increase in
the gross profit margin from 35.1 percent in the prior year to 35.6 percent for 2004 primarily reflects increased
volume and leverage on higher sales, as well as benefits realized from prior rationalization and other cost
reduction efforts. These improvements, however, were partially offset by negative impacts from lower sales
prices and higher costs for wages and benefits (including higher pension costs).

$4

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses for 2004 were $3.3 billion compared with $2.9 billion for
2003. As a percent of sales, SG&A expenses were 21.0 percent in both 2004 and 2003. Leverage on higher sales
and the benefits realized from prior rationalization efforts that improved the Company’s cost structure were
offset by higher costs for wages and benefits.
Research and development expense was $486 million in 2004, compared with $464 million in 2003. Research
and development as a percent of net sales was 3.1 percent in 2004 and 3.3 percent in 2003, reflecting
Emerson’s continuing investment in technology to improve the Company’s competitive position.
Other deductions, net were $223 million for 2004, a $95 million decrease from the $318 million for the prior
year. The decrease in other deductions, net was primarily due to the $54 million goodwill impairment charge in
the prior year. Also, 2004 included gains totaling $27 million related to the sale of shares in MKS Instruments,
Inc. and the Louisville Ladder investment, while 2003 included gains of $24 million from divestitures. In 2004,
ongoing costs for the rationalization of operations were $129 million, down from $141 million in the prior year,
primarily reflecting lower costs in the network power segment. See notes 4 and 5 for further details regarding
other deductions, net and rationalization costs.
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International destination sales
increased 17 percent to $7.4 billion
in 2004, representing 47 percent of
total sales.

Interest expense, net of $210 million in 2004 was down $21 million from the prior year of $231 million due to
lower average borrowings. During 2004, the Company swapped $600 million of 7 7/8% notes due June 2005 to a
floating rate based on 3-month LIBOR.

Income Taxes
Income taxes for 2004 were $595 million compared to $401 million for the prior year. Prior year income
taxes were reduced $68 million and the effective tax rate for 2003 was reduced 4 percentage points by the
tax benefits from the restructuring of the Emerson Telecommunication Products business (“ETP”) net of the
impairment charge. Excluding these items, the prior year rate is comparable to the approximate 32 percent
effective tax rate in the current year.

Earnings From Continuing Operations
Earnings from continuing operations were $1.3 billion and diluted earnings per share were $2.98 for 2004,
increases of 24 percent compared to $1.0 billion and $2.41 for 2003. These earnings results reflect increases
for all of the business segments, particularly in the network power, process management and climate
technologies businesses. The higher earnings also reflect increased volume and leverage from the higher
sales, savings from cost reduction efforts, partially offset by lower sales prices and other items. The increase
also reflects the decrease in other deductions, net discussed above, partially offset by a $14 million ($0.03 per
share) contribution in the prior year from the tax benefits of the restructuring of the ETP business net of the
impairment charge.

Discontinued Operations
In May 2003, the Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the Jordan business acquired in 2000,
in which the Dura-Line business would be sold and its other businesses would be retained by Emerson.
Discontinued operations of $76 million, or $0.18 per share, in 2003 included a net gain of $83 million (including
income tax benefit of $170 million), or $0.20 per share, related to the sale of Jordan stock including its DuraLine operations. The operating results of Dura-Line have been reclassified to discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for fiscal years 2003 and 2002. See note 3 for additional information.
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Net Earnings and Return on Equity

Asia Sales

Net earnings for 2004 were $1.3 billion, or $2.98 per share, compared to $1.1 billion, or $2.59 per share, for
2003, increases of 15 percent. Net earnings in 2003 include the net gain from discontinued operations of
$76 million, or $0.18 per share. Net earnings as a percent of sales were 8.1 percent in 2004, compared to
7.8 percent in 2003. Return on average stockholders’ equity was 18.4 percent and 17.9 percent for 2004
and 2003, respectively.

$2.4

$1.8

Business Segments
Process Management
(dollars in millions)

$1.2

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2003

2004

$3,394)
$ 388)

3,703)
476)

11.4%)

12.9%)

Change

9%)
23%)

$0.6
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(dollars in billions)
Emerson continues to expand
in Asia, particularly in China,
reaching $2.1 billion of sales
in 2004.

04

Process management segment sales of $3.7 billion in 2004 were up $309 million, or 9 percent, over sales a
year ago, as this segment continues to grow internationally, win large projects and expand systems and
solutions. Underlying sales increased 5 percent, excluding a 4 percentage point ($140 million) favorable
impact from currency translation and a less than 0.5 percentage point negative impact from divestitures, net
of acquisitions. The increase in underlying sales reflects 21 percent growth in Asia, 11 percent growth in Latin
America and 1 percent growth in Europe, while sales in the United States decreased 1 percent compared with
the prior year. The slight decline in the United States reflects customers shifting production to lower cost
areas. Underlying results were also driven by sales increases in most businesses, particularly the measurement
business and the systems/solutions business due to project activity in Asia and the Middle East. Leverage from
these higher sales during the year as well as savings from prior cost reduction efforts drove an increase in
earnings before interest and taxes of 23 percent, from $388 million in the prior year to $476 million for 2004.

Industrial Automation
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2003

2004

$2,600)
$ 330)

2,936)
391)

12.7%)

13.3%)

Change

13%)
18%)

Sales increases in most businesses drove a 13 percent increase in sales of the industrial automation segment
to $2.9 billion for 2004, and an earnings increase of 18 percent. The nearly 7 percent increase in underlying
sales volume, excluding a 6 percentage point ($157 million) favorable impact from currency, reflects almost
9 percent international sales growth, led by Europe with 5 percent and Asia with 28 percent, and a 4 percent
increase in the United States. The results reflect solid improvements across nearly all the businesses from
increased capital spending and industrial demand. The strongest growth across the segment was in the
European generator business and the ultrasonic plastic joining business worldwide. The U.S. increase
reflects growth in the capital goods markets due to a strong upturn in U.S. industrial fixed investment in
2004. Earnings increased 18 percent to $391 million for 2004, compared with $330 million in the prior year,
reflecting benefits from prior cost reduction efforts and increased volume and leverage from higher sales,
partially offset by higher litigation costs related to the electrical products business.

Network Power
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin
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2003

2004

$2,316)
$ 168)

2,692)
297)

7.2%)

11.0%)

Change

16%)
77%)

Network power segment sales of $2.7 billion for 2004 increased 16 percent compared to the prior year,
as Emerson benefited from favorable market dynamics that are driving demand for power systems and
cooling, as well as global services and embedded power modules. An underlying sales increase of 13 percent,
primarily due to volume, helped drive the increase in sales and a 77 percent increase in segment earnings.
Underlying sales exclude a 3 percentage point favorable impact from currency and a less than 0.5 percent net
impact from the prior-year Dura-Line divestiture and the current-year Marconi acquisition. The underlying
sales increase includes penetration gains, particularly in the OEM power business, which are estimated to
have contributed approximately 4 percentage points of the sales growth, offset by an estimated 4 percentage
point impact from lower prices, due in part to the introduction of next generation products at lower price
points. These results reflect increases in all major geographic regions, led by a 22 percent increase in Asia, an
11 percent increase in the United States and a 10 percent increase in Europe. The U.S. increase reflects the
strong upturn in U.S. investment in communication and non-residential computer equipment in 2004.
Emerson continues to build upon its Emerson Network Power China (Avansys) acquisition by increasing the
Company’s penetration in China and Asia, and leveraging its engineering resources to design next generation
products. Improvements in capital spending in nearly all of this segment’s served markets also helped drive
increased sales in the climate and power systems business. Earnings increased $129 million to $297 million,
compared with $168 million in the prior year, primarily reflecting increased volume and leverage from higher
sales. Earnings also reflect lower material costs, benefits from prior cost reduction efforts, and a $13 million
reduction in rationalization costs, partially offset by the impact from lower sales prices. Rationalization costs
during 2004 included severance and lease termination costs related to certain power systems operations
in Western Europe shifting to China and Eastern Europe in order to leverage product platforms and lower
production and engineering costs to remain competitive on a global basis.

Climate Technologies
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2003

2004

$2,614)
$ 386)

2,983)
467)

14.8%)

15.7%)

Change

14%)
21%)

Earnings from
Continuing Operations
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(dollars in millions)
Earnings from continuing
operations increased 24 percent
to $1.3 billion in 2004.

Sales of the climate technologies segment were $3.0 billion in 2004, an increase of 14 percent compared to
the prior year period, due to an underlying sales increase of nearly 12 percent and a more than 2 percentage
point favorable impact from currency. The underlying sales increase was driven by favorable end market
conditions and penetration gains which are estimated to have contributed approximately 7 percentage
points of the sales growth. The underlying sales increase reflects 15 percent growth in the United States,
11 percent growth in Asia and increases in all of the businesses. In particular, increased demand in the North
American and Asian residential air-conditioning markets led to very strong sales growth in the compressor
business in these regions. Sales of Emerson’s Copeland Scroll compressor continue to grow as a result of
the trend towards higher-efficiency equipment in served markets, the expansion of scroll technology into
large commercial applications and the introduction of new modulated capacity scroll product offerings. In
addition, the controls, thermostat and valves businesses all had very strong growth for the year. Climate
technologies’ earnings increased 21 percent to $467 million compared to $386 million in the prior year,
primarily due to increased volume and leverage from higher sales. Earnings also reflect benefits from prior
cost reduction efforts and material cost containment, partially offset by pricing pressures, particularly in Asia.

Appliance and Tools
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2003

2004

$3,453)
$ 479)

3,749)
530)

13.9%)

14.1%)

Change

9%)
11%)
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Earnings Per Share
$3.60

$2.70

$1.80

$0.90

The appliance and tools segment sales increased almost 9 percent to $3.7 billion for 2004. Underlying sales
increased 8 percent, primarily due to volume, excluding a more than 2 percentage point favorable impact
from currency and a negative impact of more than 1 percentage point related to exiting the manufacturing
of bench top and stationary power tools. The improved underlying sales results reflect gains for all of the
businesses within the appliance and tools segment, particularly very strong growth in motors, residential
storage and disposers. The increase in motors was aided by penetration gains in European appliance motors
and underlying growth in hermetic motors. The residential storage and disposers increases resulted from
strength in new and existing home markets, as evidenced by the strong growth in U.S. residential investment
in 2004, and higher demand at major retailers during the year. Earnings for 2004 of $530 million were up
11 percent from $479 million in 2003, primarily due to increased volume and leverage from higher sales and
savings from prior cost reduction efforts, which were impacted by higher commodity costs and sales price
pressure. Rationalization costs of $47 million during 2004 included severance and start-up and moving costs
related to shifting certain motor manufacturing primarily from the United States to Mexico and China in
order to consolidate facilities and improve profitability, and severance related to consolidating manufacturing
operations in the professional tools business for operational efficiency.

Fiscal Year 2003 Compared With Fiscal Year 2002
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
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*before accounting change
Net earnings per share was $2.98
in 2004, a 15 percent increase over
the prior year.

2002

Sales
Gross Profit
Percent of sales
SG&A
Percent of sales
Other deductions, net
Interest expense, net
Pretax earnings
Earnings from continuing operations
Net earnings

$13,748)
$ 4,809)
35.0%)
$ 2,904)
21.1%)
$
82)
$ 233)
$ 1,590)
$ 1,076)
$ 122)

Continuing operations – EPS
Net earnings – EPS

$
$

2.56)
0.29)

2003

Change

13,958)
4,898)
35.1%)
2,935)
21.0%)
318)
231)
1,414)
1,013)
1,089)

2%)
2%)

(11%)
(6%)
795%)

2.41)
2.59)

(6%)
793%)

Net Sales
Net sales for 2003 were $14.0 billion, an increase of $210 million, or 2 percent, from 2002. Consolidated
results include a nearly 4 percentage point (approximately $520 million) favorable impact from currency
and a less than 1 percentage point negative impact from divestitures, net of acquisitions. Underlying sales
decreased 1 percent from the prior year, reflecting the continuing difficult economic environment. The
Company estimates that underlying sales reflect an approximate 1 percentage point negative impact from
price. Sales in the United States declined $301 million, or 4 percent, from the prior year, while international
sales increased 2 percent, driven by strong growth in Asia. A 7 percent underlying sales increase in the climate
technologies segment was more than offset by a 7 percent decline in underlying sales of the network power
segment and modest declines in the other business segments.

International Sales
International destination sales, including U.S. exports, increased 10 percent, to $6.3 billion in 2003,
representing 45 percent of the Company’s total sales. U.S. exports were down 6 percent compared to the
prior year, at $893 million, reflecting the general sluggish economic environment, divestitures, and a shift
in supplying some non-U.S. customers locally rather than from the United States. International subsidiary
sales, including shipments to the United States, were $5.6 billion in 2003, up 12 percent over 2002. Emerson
continued to expand in Asia during the year, particularly in China, which showed strength in the fourth
quarter, to capitalize on market opportunities and further improve the Company’s cost position. European
markets served by Emerson showed signs of recovery, with sales improving in the second half of the year.
Excluding the net 10 percent impact from acquisitions, divestitures and favorable currency translation,
international subsidiary sales increased 2 percent compared to the prior year.
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Acquisitions and Divestitures
In the third quarter of 2003, the Company sold the Dura-Line fiber-optic conduit business, which is reported
as discontinued operations. In the first quarter of 2002, the Company acquired Avansys Power Co., Ltd.,
a provider of network power products to the telecommunications industry in China, for approximately
$750 million in cash. The Company also divested the Chromalox industrial heating solutions business and
the Daniel Valve business. Also in 2002, Emerson exchanged its ENI semiconductor equipment division for
an equity interest in MKS Instruments, Inc. of 12 million common shares.

Dividends Per Share
$1.80

$1.35

Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales for fiscal 2003 and 2002 were $9.1 billion and $8.9 billion, respectively, an increase of 1 percent.
Cost of sales as a percent of net sales was 64.9 percent in 2003, compared with 65.0 percent in 2002. The
improvement in the gross profit margin in 2003 was primarily the result of the Company’s cost reduction
efforts and productivity improvement programs despite a negative impact of 0.2 points from higher
pension expense.

$0.90

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $2.9 billion in both 2003 and 2002. As a percent of net
sales, SG&A expenses were 21.0 percent and 21.1 percent in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

$0.45

Research and development expense was $464 million in 2003, compared with $474 million in 2002. Research
and development as a percent of net sales was 3.3 percent in 2003 and 3.4 percent in 2002, reflecting
Emerson’s continuing investment in technology to improve the Company’s competitive position.
Other deductions, net were $318 million in 2003, compared with $82 million in 2002. Fiscal 2003 increased
$236 million over the prior year due to $207 million of lower divestiture gains in 2003 and a 2003 goodwill
impairment charge of $54 million related to the businesses in the network power segment. Fiscal 2002
included gains of $85 million and $42 million from the divestitures of the Chromalox and Daniel Valve
businesses, respectively, and a $93 million gain from the ENI transaction. Also included in other deductions,
net were ongoing costs for the rationalization of operations of $141 million and $190 million in 2003 and
2002, respectively. Higher levels of rationalization in 2002 related to cost structure improvements in response
to the difficult economic environment. See notes 4 and 5 for further details regarding other deductions, net
and rationalization costs.
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Annual dividends increased to a
record $1.60 per share in 2004,
representing the 48th consecutive
year of increases.

Interest expense, net of $231 million in 2003 was down slightly from the prior year of $233 million. During
2003, the Company issued $750 million of long-term debt to decrease commercial paper borrowings.

Income Taxes
Income taxes were $401 million and $514 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The 2003 effective tax rate
was 28.3 percent, compared with 32.3 percent in 2002. In 2003, income taxes and the effective tax rate were
reduced $68 million and 4 percent, respectively, by the tax benefits from the restructuring of the ETP business
net of the impairment charge. Excluding these items, the rate is more indicative of the ongoing tax rate and is
comparable to the effective tax rate in the prior year.

Earnings From Continuing Operations
Earnings from continuing operations were $1.0 billion, or $2.41 per share, in 2003, down from $1.1 billion,
or $2.56 per share, in 2002. Lower income taxes in 2003 and $159 million of higher profits contributed by
the business segments were more than offset by lower divestiture gains in 2003 and the impairment charge,
discussed above in other deductions, net.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
Effective October 1, 2001, Emerson adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The
transitional goodwill impairment recognized upon adoption of FAS 142 is a required change in accounting
principle, and the cumulative effect of adopting this standard resulted in a non-cash, after-tax decrease to
2002 net earnings and diluted earnings per share of $938 million and $2.23, respectively. Also as a result
of the adoption of this standard, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization. See note 6 for additional
information.
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Operating Cash Flow
and as a Percent of Sales

Net Earnings and Return on Equity

20%

Net earnings of $1.1 billion and earnings per share of $2.59 for 2003 included the gain from discontinued
operations of $76 million, or $0.18 per share. Net earnings in 2002 were $122 million, or $0.29 per share,
$2.4 including an accounting change of $938 million, or $2.23 per share (net earnings were $1.1 billion, or $2.52
per share, excluding the accounting change). Net earnings as a percent of sales were 7.8 percent in 2003,
compared to 7.7 percent in 2002 (excluding the accounting change). Return on average stockholders’ equity
was 17.9 percent in 2003 and 2002 (excluding the accounting change).

15%

$1.8

Business Segments
Process Management
(dollars in millions)

10%

$1.2

5%

$0.6

Sales
Earnings
Margin
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(dollars in billions)
Emerson generated record
operating cash ﬂow of $2.2 billion
in 2004, a 28 percent increase
from the prior year.

2002

2003

$3,396)
$ 387)

3,394)
388)

11.4%)

11.4%)

Change

– %)
– %)

Process management segment sales of $3.4 billion in 2003 were comparable with the prior year. Reported
sales include an almost 5 percentage point ($153 million) favorable impact from currency, which was partially
offset by a nearly 3 percentage point impact from the Daniel Valve and Intellution divestitures. Excluding
acquisitions, divestitures and currency, underlying sales declined 2 percent due to 9 percent and 7 percent
declines in the United States and Latin America, respectively, which were partially offset by 4 percent growth in
Europe and 7 percent growth in Asia. Process management continued its market penetration and geographic
expansion despite the ongoing weakness in the U.S. market. Systems, services and solutions businesses
continued growing with strong new project activity and displacement of competitors in the market. Earnings
before interest and taxes were $388 million in 2003, compared to $387 million in the prior year, reflecting
increased sales and profitability in the systems, solutions and measurement businesses, offset by weakness in
the valve businesses and $9 million in higher costs for the rationalization of operations during the year.

Industrial Automation
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2002

2003

$2,500)
$ 297)

2,600)
330)

11.9%)

12.7%)

Change

4%)
11%)

Sales in the industrial automation segment increased 4 percent to $2.6 billion in 2003, reflecting a 7 percentage
point ($170 million) favorable impact from currency, which was partially offset by a 1 percentage point
impact from divestitures. An almost 2 percent decline in underlying sales reflects weakness in industrial
activity in the United States, which contributed to a 6 percent decline in U.S. sales, partially offset by 3 percent
international sales growth, led by a 9 percent increase in Asia and 2 percent growth in Europe. Most end
markets have begun to stabilize. This stability together with the benefits from restructuring drove earnings
growth in the segment. Margin improvements in the fluid control valves, variable-speed drives and materials
joining businesses, as well as $13 million lower rationalization costs, led to an 11 percent increase in earnings
to $330 million in 2003 from $297 million in 2002.

Network Power
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin
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2002

2003

$2,465)
$ 119)

2,316)
168)

4.8%)

7.2%)

Change

(6%)
41%)

The network power segment reported sales of $2.3 billion in 2003, down 6 percent from 2002. Underlying
sales, excluding a 2 percentage point impact from divestitures and a 3 percentage point favorable impact
from currency, declined 7 percent as a result of significant declines in most major geographic regions, except
Asia and Latin America which turned positive in the fourth quarter. The significant restructuring efforts in
this business paid off and helped drive margins higher. Despite lower sales volume, earnings increased
$49 million, or 41 percent, to $168 million in 2003, primarily driven by the precision cooling and power
systems business and $25 million lower rationalization costs in the current year. This business segment
strengthened its position through 2003 with a continued focus on restructuring initiatives, engineering and
technology investments, and international expansion.

Capital Expenditures
and as a Percent of Sales
$700

6.0%

$525

4.5%

$350

3.0%

$175

1.5%

Climate Technologies
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2002

2003

$2,389)
$ 333)

2,614)
386)

13.9%)

14.8%)

Change

9%)
16%)

Sales in the climate technologies segment increased over 9 percent to $2.6 billion in 2003, driven by
continued global penetration gains, market growth and a nearly 3 percentage point favorable impact from
currency. The underlying sales increase of nearly 7 percent compared to the prior year reflects 22 percent
growth in Asia and almost 19 percent growth in Latin America, and 5 percent and 4 percent increases,
respectively, in the United States and the European commercial market. The combination of new wins, market
dynamics, and higher efficiency regulations worldwide is driving long-term scroll technology penetration and
growth. In addition, energy management and site monitoring services are growing, particularly by helping
supermarkets reduce energy costs and safeguard food quality. Climate technologies earnings increased
$53 million, or 16 percent, over the prior year to $386 million, primarily due to higher sales and improved
margins from increased operating efficiencies for the compressor and heating controls businesses in 2003.
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Emerson continues to effectively
manage capital spending.

Appliance and Tools
(dollars in millions)

Sales
Earnings
Margin

2002

2003

$3,437)
$ 456)

3,453)
479)

13.3%)

13.9%)

Change

–%)
5%)

The appliance and tools segment sales were $3.5 billion in 2003, compared to sales of $3.4 billion in the prior
year. Sales reflect a 3 percent decline in underlying sales, which was offset by a 2 percentage point favorable
impact from currency and an almost 1 percentage point impact from acquisitions. Earnings of $479 million
were up 5 percent over $456 million in 2002, primarily driven by the disposer, residential storage and
plumbing tools businesses and $13 million lower costs for rationalization compared to the prior year, partially
offset by weakness in the motors business. Residential storage products sales continued to show strength,
driven by new product offerings, innovative Web-enabled design and support services, and favorable market
conditions. The motors and appliance component business sales declined moderately, while the construction
and tools business sales declined slightly, partially resulting from exiting the manufacturing of power
woodworking tools. Emerson made the strategic business decision to discontinue the manufacture of bench
top and stationary woodworking power tools, which had sales of approximately $60 million in 2003.

FINANCIAL POSITION, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
The Company continues to generate substantial cash from operations and is in a strong financial position
with total assets of $16 billion and stockholders’ equity of $7 billion, and has the resources available for
reinvestment in existing businesses, strategic acquisitions and managing the capital structure on a short- and
long-term basis.
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Operating
Working Capital
as a Percent of Sales
16%

12%

Cash Flow
Emerson generated record operating cash flow of $2.2 billion in 2004, a 28 percent increase from the prior
year. Operating cash flow was $1.7 billion in 2003, a decrease of 5 percent compared with $1.8 billion in 2002.
Cash flow in 2004 reflects continued improvements in operating working capital, particularly an 8 percent
increase in days payable outstanding and a 3 percent decrease in days sales outstanding. At September 30,
2004, operating working capital as a percentage of sales was 10.5 percent, compared with 12.7 percent and
12.6 percent in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Operating working capital as a percentage of sales for 2003 was
negatively impacted 1 percentage point by approximately $140 million of tax benefits received in cash in 2004
due to the carryback of a capital loss against prior capital gains. Operating cash flow was decreased by pension
contributions of $167 million, $308 million and $169 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Pension
contributions are expected to be less than $100 million in 2005.
Free cash flow (operating cash flow less capital expenditures) was $1.8 billion in 2004, compared to $1.4 billion
in 2003 and 2002. The 30 percent increase in 2004 was driven by higher net earnings, improved operating
working capital and lower pension contributions, which were partially offset by higher capital spending. The
slight decrease in 2003 was primarily due to the higher pension contribution made during the year and changes
in working capital, offset by lower capital expenditures. Capital expenditures were $400 million, $337 million
and $384 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In 2005, the Company is targeting capital spending of
approximately 3 percent of net sales. Cash paid in connection with Emerson’s acquisitions was $414 million,
$6 million and $754 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

8%

4%
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Operating working capital has
improved from 16 percent of sales
in 1999 to 11 percent in 2004.

Dividends were $675 million ($1.60 per share, up 1.9 percent) in 2004, compared with $661 million ($1.57 per
share) in 2003, and $652 million ($1.55 per share) in 2002. In November 2004, the Board of Directors voted to
increase the quarterly cash dividend to an annualized rate of $1.66 per share. In 2004 and 2002, approximately
2,630,000 and 360,000 shares, respectively, were repurchased under the fiscal 1997 and 2002 Board of
Directors’ authorizations; 37.6 million shares remain available for repurchase under the 2002 authorization and
none remain available under the 1997 authorization. The Company did not repurchase any shares during 2003
under these plans. Net purchases of treasury stock totaled $121 million and $20 million in 2004 and 2002,
respectively, compared to net issuances of $11 million in 2003.

Leverage/Capitalization
Total debt decreased to $4.0 billion at the end of 2004. Total debt in 2003 decreased to $4.1 billion from
$4.6 billion in 2002. The total debt-to-capital ratio was 35.8 percent at year-end 2004, compared with
39.0 percent for 2003 and 44.2 percent for 2002. At September 30, 2004, net debt (total debt less cash and
equivalents and short-term investments) was 27.0 percent of net capital (net debt plus stockholders’ equity),
compared with 34.5 percent of net capital in 2003 and 42.0 percent of net capital in 2002. The cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle in 2002 increased these ratios by almost 4 percentage points. The
operating cash flow-to-debt ratio was 54.9 percent, 42.0 percent and 39.9 percent in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The Company’s interest coverage ratio (earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
and interest expense, divided by interest expense) was 8.9 times in 2004, compared with 6.7 times in 2003 and
7.4 times in 2002. The increase in the interest coverage ratio in 2004 from 2003 reflects higher earnings and
lower average borrowings, partially offset by higher interest rates. The decrease in the interest coverage ratio
from 2002 to 2003 reflects lower earnings and higher interest rates on new issuances of long-term debt that
replaced commercial paper, which were partially offset by lower average borrowings. See notes 3, 8 and 9 for
additional information.
At year-end 2004, the Company and its subsidiaries maintained lines of credit amounting to $2,750 million to
support short-term borrowings, and had uncommitted bank credit facilities to support non-U.S. operations of
which approximately $420 million was unused at September 30, 2004. Two-thirds of the credit lines ($1,833
million) are effective until March 2009, with the remainder effective until March 2005. The 364-day credit lines do
not contain any financial covenants, while the five-year credit lines require the Company to maintain minimum
stockholders’ equity of $4,000 million. The 364-day credit lines may be converted to a one-year term loan within
60 days prior to maturity in March 2005 at the Company’s option. The credit line agreements are not subject to
termination based upon a change in credit ratings or a material adverse change. In addition, as of September 30,
2004, the Company could issue up to $2.5 billion in debt securities, preferred stock, common stock, warrants,
share purchase contracts and share purchase units under the shelf registration with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Company’s long-term debt is rated A2 by Moody’s Investors Service and A by Standard and Poor’s.
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Contractual Obligations
At September 30, 2004, the Company’s contractual obligations, including estimated payments due by period,
are as follows (dollars in millions):

Debt as a Percent
of Capital
48%

Payments Due By Period
Total

Less than
1 year

Long-term Debt
Operating Leases
Purchase Obligations

$3,758
384
1,037

622
117
771

253)
137)
240)

731)
64)
26)

2,152)
66)
–)

Total

$5,179

1,510

630)

821)

2,218)

1-3 years

3-5 years

More Than
5 years
36%

24%

Purchase obligations consist primarily of inventory purchases made in the normal course of business to meet
operational requirements. The above table does not include $1.7 billion of other noncurrent liabilities recorded
in the balance sheet, as summarized in note 16, which primarily consist of deferred income tax and retirement
and postretirement plan liabilities, because it is not certain when these liabilities will become due. See notes 10,
11 and 13 for additional information.

12%

Financial Instruments
The Company is exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates, copper and other commodity prices
and European and other foreign currency exchange rates, and selectively uses derivative financial instruments,
including forwards, swaps and purchased options, to manage these risks. The Company does not hold
derivatives for trading purposes. The value of market risk sensitive derivative and other financial instruments is
subject to change as a result of movements in market rates and prices. Sensitivity analysis is one technique used
to evaluate these impacts. Based on a hypothetical ten-percent increase in interest rates, ten-percent decrease in
commodity prices or ten-percent weakening in the U.S. dollar across all currencies, the potential losses in future
earnings, fair value and cash flows are immaterial. This method has limitations; for example, a weaker U.S. dollar
would benefit future earnings through favorable translation of non-U.S. operating results and lower commodity
prices would benefit future earnings through lower cost of sales. See notes 1, 7, 8 and 9.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Total debt was 36 percent of
total capital and net debt was
27 percent of net capital at yearend 2004. Emerson maintains a
conservative ﬁnancial structure
to provide the strength and
ﬂexibility necessary to achieve
our strategic objectives.

Preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, assumptions,
and estimates regarding uncertainties that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, stockholders’
equity, revenues and expenses. Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements describes the
significant accounting policies used in preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The most
significant areas involving management judgments and estimates are described below. Actual results in these
areas could differ materially from management’s estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes substantially all of its revenues through the sale of manufactured products and records
the sale when products are shipped and title passes to the customer and collection is reasonably assured. In
certain instances, revenue is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method, when services are rendered,
or in accordance with SOP No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition.” Sales sometimes include multiple items
including services such as installation. In such instances, revenue assigned to each item is based on that item’s
objectively determined fair value, and revenue is recognized individually for delivered items only if the delivered
items have value to the customer on a standalone basis, performance of the undelivered items is probable
and substantially in the Company’s control and the undelivered items are inconsequential or perfunctory.
Management believes that all relevant criteria and conditions are considered when recognizing sales.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The majority of inventory values are based upon
standard costs which approximate average costs, while the remainder are principally valued on a first-in, firstout basis. Standard costs are revised at the beginning of each fiscal year. The effects of resetting standards
and operating variances incurred during each period are allocated between inventories and cost of sales.
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Operating Cash Flow
to Total Debt
60%

Management regularly reviews inventory for obsolescence to determine whether a write-down is necessary.
Various factors are considered in making this determination, including recent sales history and predicted
trends, industry market conditions and general economic conditions. See note 1.

Long-lived Assets
Long-lived assets, which primarily include goodwill and property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events and changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets
may not be recoverable. If the Company determines that the carrying value of the long-lived asset may not
be recoverable, a permanent impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of
the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. In 2002, the Company adopted FAS 142 and recorded a transitional
impairment charge as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. In 2003, a goodwill impairment
charge related to the network power segment was recorded. Fair value is generally measured based on a
discounted cash flow method using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the
risk inherent in the Company’s current business model. The estimates of cash flows and discount rate are subject
to change due to the economic environment, including such factors as interest rates, expected market returns
and volatility of markets served. Management believes that the estimates of future cash flows and fair value are
reasonable; however, changes in estimates could materially affect the evaluations. See notes 1, 3 and 6.
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Retirement Plans
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Strong cash ﬂow performance
in 2004 improved the ratio of
operating cash ﬂow to total debt
to 55 percent.

Defined benefit plan expense and obligations are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such
amounts. These assumptions include discount rate, rate of compensation increases and expected return on
plan assets. In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, actual results that differ from
the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods. While management believes that the
assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may affect
the Company’s retirement plan obligations and future expense. In 2002, the Company adjusted the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets to 9.0 percent, down from 10.5 percent, which increased retirement
plan expense approximately $30 million in 2003. In 2003, the Company adjusted the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets to 8.5 percent and adjusted the discount rate for the U.S. retirement plans to 6.0
percent, which increased retirement plan expense approximately $50 million in 2004. Effective for 2005, the
Company adjusted the discount rate for the U.S. retirement plans to 6.25 percent. Defined benefit pension
plan expense is expected to be approximately $90 million in 2005. As of the June 30, 2004, measurement
date, the fair value of plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation for the primary defined benefit
pension plan by approximately $250 million, and an additional $50 million was contributed to the plan in the
fourth quarter of 2004. If the performance of the equity and bond markets in 2005 eliminates the $300 million
excess, the Company could be required to record an after-tax charge to equity of approximately $550 million.
The Company expects to contribute less than $100 million to defined benefit plans in 2005. See note 10.

Income Taxes
Income tax expense and deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect management’s assessment of actual future
taxes to be paid on items reflected in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the temporary differences between the consolidated
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date. No
provision is made for U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries. These earnings
are permanently invested or indefinitely retained for continuing international operations. In those cases in
which distributions have been made, additional income taxes have not been significant. See note 13.
The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 was signed into law on October 22, 2004. The new law repeals
an export tax benefit, provides for a 9 percent deduction on U.S. manufacturing income, and allows the
repatriation of foreign earnings at a reduced rate for one year, subject to certain limitations. Based on fiscal
year 2004 and when fully phased-in, management estimates that the repeal of the export tax benefit will
increase income tax expense approximately $25 million per year but expects a significant portion of this cost
to be offset by the deduction on manufacturing income. The Company is also considering the implications of
the new law on repatriation of foreign earnings, which reduces the Federal income tax rate to 5.25 percent on
earnings distributed from non-U.S. subsidiaries for a one-year period.
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended September 30
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)
2002

2003

2004

$13,748)

13,958)

15,615)

Cost of sales

8,939)

9,060)

10,049)

Selling, general and administrative expenses

2,904)

2,935)

3,281)

Net sales
Costs and expenses:

Other deductions, net

82)

318)

223)

233)

231)

210)

1,590)

1,414)

1,852)

514)

401)

595)

1,076)

1,013)

1,257)

(16)

76)

—)

1,060)

1,089)

1,257)

(938)

—)

—)

$

122)

1,089)

1,257)

$

2.57)

2.42)

3.00)

Discontinued operations

(0.04)

0.18)

—)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

(2.24)

—)

—)

0.29)

2.60)

3.00)

Interest expense (net of interest income: 2002, $17; 2003, $15; 2004, $24)
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Earnings from continuing operations
Net gain (loss) from discontinued operations
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Net earnings

Basic earnings per common share:
Earnings from continuing operations

Basic earnings per common share

$

Diluted earnings per common share:
Earnings from continuing operations

2.56)

2.41)

2.98)

Discontinued operations

(0.04)

0.18)

—)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

(2.23)

—)

—)

0.29)

2.59)

2.98)

Diluted earnings per common share

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
September 30
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

ASSETS

2003

2004

Current assets
Cash and equivalents
Receivables, less allowances of $82 in 2003 and $78 in 2004

$

696)

1,346)

2,650)

2,932)

Inventories:
Finished products

628)

693)

Raw materials and work in process

930)

1,012)

1,558)

1,705)

596)

433)

5,500)

6,416)

178)

184)

Buildings

1,341)

1,402)

Machinery and equipment

5,129)

5,284)

216)

249)

6,864)

7,119)

Less accumulated depreciation

3,902)

4,182)

Property, plant and equipment, net

2,962)

2,937)

Goodwill

4,942)

5,259)

Other

1,790)

1,749)

Total other assets

6,732)

7,008)

$15,194)

16,361)

Total inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Land

Construction in progress

Other assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2003

2004

391)

902)

Accounts payable

1,397)

1,629)

Accrued expenses

1,513)

1,695)

116)

113)

3,417)

4,339)

Long-term debt

3,733)

3,136)

Other liabilities

1,584)

1,648)

—)

—)

238)

238)

Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt

Income taxes
Total current liabilities

$

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock of $2.50 par value per share.
Authorized 5,400,000 shares; issued— none
Common stock of $.50 par value per share.
Authorized 1,200,000,000 shares; issued 476,677,006 shares; outstanding
421,154,464 shares in 2003 and 419,428,547 shares in 2004
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

65)

87)

8,889)

9,471)

(386)

(88)

8,806)

9,708)

2,346)

2,470)

6,460)

7,238)

$15,194)

16,361)

Less cost of common stock in treasury, 55,522,542 shares in 2003 and
57,248,459 shares in 2004
Total stockholders’ equity
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended September 30
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)
2002

2003

2004

238)

238)

238)

Beginning balance

31)

52)

65)

Stock plans and other

21)

13)

22)

Ending balance

52)

65)

87)

8,991)

8,461)

8,889)

Common stock

$

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings
Beginning balance
Net earnings
Cash dividends (per share: 2002, $1.55; 2003, $1.57; 2004, $1.60)
Ending balance

122)

1,089)

1,257)

(652)

(661)

(675)

8,461)

8,889)

9,471)

(741)

(647)

(386)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Beginning balance
Foreign currency translation

132)

366)

264)

Minimum pension liability (net of tax of: 2002, $18; 2003, $82; 2004, $(24))

(30)

(133)

32)

Cash flow hedges and other (net of tax of: 2002, $5; 2003, $(17); 2004, $(2))

(8)

28)

2)

(647)

(386)

(88)

(2,405)

(2,363)

(2,346)

(17)

—)

(157)

59)

17)

33)

(2,363)

(2,346)

(2,470)

$ 5,741)

6,460)

7,238)

$

1,350)

1,555)

Ending balance
Treasury stock
Beginning balance
Acquired
Issued under stock plans and other
Ending balance
Total stockholders’ equity
Comprehensive income
(Net earnings, Foreign currency translation,
Minimum pension liability and Cash flow hedges)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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216)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended September 30
(Dollars in millions)
2002

2003

2004

1,089)

1,257)

Operating Activities
Net earnings

$ 122)

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

938)

—)

—)

Depreciation and amortization

541)

534)

557)

Changes in operating working capital

432)

266)

322)

(169)

(308)

(167)

(46)

150)

247)

1,818)

1,731)

2,216)

Capital expenditures

(384)

(337)

(400)

Purchases of businesses, net of cash and equivalents acquired

(754)

(6)

(414)

257)

39)

97)

(881)

(304)

(717)

Pension funding
Gains on divestitures and other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities

Divestitures of businesses and other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Net decrease in short-term borrowings

(975)

(1,232)

(106)

Proceeds from long-term debt

751)

746)

29)

Principal payments on long-term debt

(38)

(17)

(16)

Net (purchases) issuances of treasury stock

(20)

11)

(121)

Dividends paid

(652)

(661)

(675)

Net cash used in financing activities

(934)

(1,153)

(889)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents

22)

41)

40)

Increase in cash and equivalents

25)

315)

650)

356)

381)

696)

$ 381)

696)

1,346)

Receivables

$ 155)

8)

(134)

Inventories

265)

161)

(8)

12)

12)

202)

Accounts payable

101)

57)

123)

Accrued expenses

(72)

24)

114)

Income taxes

(29)

4)

25)

$ 432)

266)

322)

Beginning cash and equivalents
Ending cash and equivalents

Changes in operating working capital

Other current assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled affiliates. All significant intercompany
transactions, profits and balances are eliminated in consolidation. Other investments of 20 percent to 50 percent are accounted for by the
equity method. Investments of less than 20 percent are carried at cost.

Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of nearly all of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries is the local currency. Adjustments resulting from the translation
of financial statements are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The majority of inventory values are based upon standard costs which approximate
average costs, while the remainder are principally valued on a first-in, first-out basis. Standard costs are revised at the beginning of each
fiscal year. The effects of resetting standards and operating variances incurred during each period are allocated between inventories and
cost of sales.

Property, Plant and Equipment
The Company records investments in land, buildings, and machinery and equipment at cost. Depreciation is computed principally using
the straight-line method over estimated service lives. Service lives for principal assets are 30 to 40 years for buildings and 8 to 12 years for
machinery and equipment. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events and changes in business circumstances indicate
the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized based on fair value if expected future cash flows
of the related assets are less than their carrying values.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations.” FAS 141 requires the purchase method of accounting and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method. Assets and liabilities
related to business combinations accounted for as purchase transactions are recorded at their respective fair values. Effective October 1,
2001, Emerson adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and therefore
ceased amortizing goodwill as of that date. Prior to the adoption of FAS 142, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis to other
deductions over the periods estimated to be benefited, not exceeding 40 years. Substantially all goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit
that acquires a business. A reporting unit is an operating segment as defined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” or a business one level below an operating segment if discrete
financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by the segment manager. The Company conducts a formal impairment test of
goodwill on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. Under the impairment test, if a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
estimated fair value, a goodwill impairment is recognized to the extent that the reporting unit’s carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of the goodwill. Fair value of reporting units are estimated using discounted cash flows and market multiples.
All of the Company’s intangible assets (other than goodwill) are subject to amortization. Capitalized software is being amortized on a
straight-line basis with a weighted-average life of three years. Other intangibles consist of intellectual property (such as patents) and customer
relationships which are being amortized on a straight-line basis with a weighted-average life of ten years. Based on intangible assets as of
September 30, 2004, amortization expense will approximate $72 in 2005, $64 in 2006, $46 in 2007, $32 in 2008 and $25 in 2009.

Warranty
The Company’s product warranties vary by each of its product lines and are competitive for the markets in which it operates. Warranty
generally extends for a period of one to two years from the date of sale or installation. Provisions for warranty are primarily determined
based on historical warranty cost as a percentage of sales or a fixed amount per unit sold based on failure rates, adjusted for specific
problems that may arise. Product warranty expense is less than one percent of sales.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes nearly all of its revenues through the sale of manufactured products and records the sale when products
are shipped and title passes to the customer and collection is reasonably assured. In certain instances, revenue is recognized on the
percentage-of-completion method, when services are rendered, or in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition.” Sales sometimes include multiple items including services such as installation. In such instances, revenue assigned
to each item is based on that item’s objectively determined fair value, and revenue is recognized individually for delivered items only if the
delivered items have value to the customer on a standalone basis, performance of the undelivered items is probable and substantially in
the Company’s control and the undelivered items are inconsequential or perfunctory. Management believes that all relevant criteria and
conditions are considered when recognizing sales.
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Stock-Based Compensation
Effective October 1, 2002, Emerson adopted the fair value method provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (FAS 123). Under the Standard’s prospective method of adoption, options granted, modified
or settled after September 30, 2002, are expensed based on their fair value at date of grant over the vesting period, generally three years.
Previously, the Company accounted for options pursuant to Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, and no expense was recognized.
The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings per share if the fair value based method had been applied to all
outstanding and unvested awards in each period.
2002

2003

2004

Net earnings, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported
net earnings, net of related tax effects
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under the fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

$ 122

1,089

1,257

17

18

42

34

25

48

Pro forma net earnings

$ 105

1,082

1,251

Earnings per share:
Basic - as reported
Basic - pro forma

$0.29
$0.25

2.60
2.58

3.00
2.99

Diluted - as reported
Diluted - pro forma

$0.29
$0.25

2.59
2.57

2.98
2.97

Financial Instruments
All derivative instruments are reported on the balance sheet at fair value. For each derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge,
the gain or loss on the derivative is deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income until recognized in earnings with the underlying
hedged item. For each derivative instrument designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative and the offsetting gain
or loss on the hedged item are recognized immediately in earnings. Currency fluctuations on non-U.S. dollar obligations that have been
designated as hedges on non-U.S. net asset exposures are included in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Income Taxes
No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries (approximately $2,390 at September 30,
2004). These earnings are permanently invested or otherwise indefinitely retained for continuing international operations. In those cases in
which distributions have been made, additional income taxes have not been significant.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is primarily comprised of net earnings, foreign currency translation, minimum pension liability and cash flow
hedges. Accumulated other comprehensive income, after-tax, consists of a foreign currency translation credit of $83 and a charge of $181,
minimum pension liability charges of $160 and $192, and cash flow hedges and other charges of $11 and $13 at September 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Financial Statement Presentation
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain
prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
Effective October 1, 2002, Emerson adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which addresses the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and the reporting of discontinued
operations. The operating results of Dura-Line are classified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for
2003 and 2002 (see Note 3).
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(2) WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES
Basic earnings per common share consider only the weighted average of common shares outstanding while diluted earnings per common
share consider the dilutive effects of stock options, incentive shares and convertible securities. Reconciliations of weighted average
common shares for basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share follow (shares in millions):
2002

2003

2004

Basic
Dilutive shares

418.9
2.0

419.1
1.8

419.3
2.9

Diluted

420.9

420.9

422.2

(3) ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company acquired the outside plant and power systems business of Marconi Corporation PLC, a leading
provider of DC power products and engineering and installation services to major telecommunication carriers throughout North America,
which is included in the Network Power segment. Marconi (renamed Emerson Network Power Energy Systems - North America) and
several smaller businesses acquired during 2004 for a total of $414 in cash (net of cash and equivalents acquired) had annualized sales
of approximately $430. Goodwill of $224 (substantially all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes) and intangible assets
of $120 (all of which is being amortized on a straight-line basis with a weighted-average life of 14 years) were recognized from these
transactions. Third-party valuations of assets are in-process; thus, the allocations of the purchase prices are subject to refinement.
Several small businesses were also acquired during 2003. Due to challenging market conditions, Emerson began evaluating strategies
during 2003 to maximize the value of the Jordan business (renamed Emerson Telecommunication Products, Inc. (“Jordan”)) acquired in
2000. In May 2003, the Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure Jordan in which all but one of its businesses would be retained by
Emerson (and will continue to do business as Emerson Telecommunication Products, LLC (“ETP”)), and the Dura-Line fiber-optic conduit
business would be sold. In June 2003, after the restructuring, the Jordan stock, including its Dura-Line operations, was sold for $6, resulting
in a pretax loss of $87, which is reported as discontinued operations. In addition, an appraisal of the retained ETP business was performed.
All of the businesses in the Network Power segment, including ETP, were reviewed for impairment and a goodwill impairment charge of $54
was recorded in the third quarter of 2003, the majority of which related to the ETP business. The restructuring and sale resulted in income
tax benefits of $238 as the tax basis in the stock of these businesses significantly exceeded the carrying value primarily due to a goodwill
impairment of $647 in 2002. Approximately $164 of the benefits were received in cash in 2004 due to the carryback of the capital loss
against prior capital gains and application to current year capital gains, with the remainder expected to be received in subsequent years as
the capital loss carryforward is utilized against future capital gains. The income tax benefits were recognized in the third quarter of 2003:
$170 was associated with discontinued operations and $68 was associated with the retained ETP business.
The tax benefits from the restructuring of the ETP business net of the impairment charge contributed $14 ($0.03 per share) to continuing
operations in 2003. The net gain of $83 from the sale of Jordan (including income tax benefit of $170) is reported as discontinued
operations in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The operating results of Dura-Line are also classified as discontinued operations for
2003 and 2002. Sales were $41 and $76, and net losses were $7 and $16 for the years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Other businesses divested in 2003 represented total annual sales of approximately $80 in 2002.
During the first quarter of 2002, Emerson acquired Avansys Power Co., Ltd. (renamed Emerson Network Power China), a provider of
network power products to the telecommunications industry in China, for $750 in cash (approximately $710 net of cash acquired),
resulting in $624 of goodwill. Avansys and other smaller businesses acquired during 2002 had annualized sales of approximately $270.
In the first quarter of 2002, Emerson received $165 from the divestiture of the Chromalox industrial heating solutions business, resulting
in a pretax gain of $85. In the second quarter of 2002, Emerson exchanged its ENI semiconductor equipment business for an equity
interest in MKS Instruments, Inc. of 12 million common shares, resulting in a pretax gain of approximately $93. During the third quarter,
Emerson received $73 from the divestiture of the Daniel Valve business, resulting in a pretax gain of $42. Chromalox, ENI and Daniel Valve
represented total annual sales of approximately $300 in 2001.
The results of operations of these businesses have been included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations since the respective
dates of acquisition and prior to the respective dates of divestiture.
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(4) OTHER DEDUCTIONS, NET
Other deductions, net are summarized as follows:
2002

2003

2004

Rationalization of operations
Impairment
Amortization of intangibles
Other
Gains from divestitures

$ 190
–
26
97
(231)

141
54
17
130
(24)

129
3
21
97
(27)

Total

$ 82

318

223

In January 2004, the Company sold 2 million shares of MKS Instruments, Inc., a publicly traded company, and continues to hold 10 million
shares. The Company also sold its investment in the Louisville Ladder joint venture. The Company recorded a pretax gain of $27 in the
second quarter of 2004 from these transactions. Pretax gains from divestitures were $24 and $231 in 2003 and 2002, respectively. See
Note 3 for information regarding divestiture activities.
Other is comprised of several items which are individually immaterial, including minority interest expense, foreign currency gains and
losses, bad debt expense, equity investment income and losses, as well as one-time gains and losses, such as capital asset dispositions, asset
impairments, litigation and disputed matters, insurance recoveries and contract settlement gains.

(5) RATIONALIZATION OF OPERATIONS
The change in the liability for rationalization of operations follows:

Severance and benefits
Lease/contract terminations
Fixed asset writedowns
Vacant facility and other shutdown costs
Start-up and moving costs

September 30,
2003

Expense

Paid / Utilized

September 30,
2004

$20
25
–
2
5

50
12
9
24
34

47
19
9
23
37

23
18
–
3
2

$52

129

135

46

2002

2003

2004

Rationalization of operations by segment is summarized as follows:

Process Management
Industrial Automation
Network Power
Climate Technologies
Appliance and Tools
Corporate
Discontinued operations
Total
(a)

(a)

$ 27
33
71
26
49
1
(17)
$190

36
20
39
20
36
(2)
(8)
141

31
14
26
17
47
(6)
–
129

Discontinued operations eliminates the operating results of discontinued operations related to Dura-Line, which are included in the
Network Power segment amounts.

Rationalization of operations comprises expenses associated with the Company’s efforts to continuously improve operational efficiency
and to expand globally in order to remain competitive on a worldwide basis. These expenses result from numerous individual actions
implemented across the divisions on a routine basis and are not part of a large, company-wide program. Rationalization of operations
includes ongoing costs for moving facilities, starting up plants from relocation as well as business expansion, exiting product lines,
curtailing/downsizing operations due to changing economic conditions, and other one-time items resulting from asset redeployment
decisions. Shutdown costs include severance, benefits, stay bonuses, lease/contract terminations and asset writedowns. Start-up
and moving costs include employee training and relocation, moving of assets and other items. Vacant facility costs include security,
maintenance and utility costs associated with facilities that are no longer being utilized.
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During 2004, rationalization of operations primarily related to the exit of approximately 20 production, distribution or office facilities
including the elimination of more than 2,000 positions, as well as costs related to facilities exited in previous periods. Noteworthy
rationalization actions during 2004 are as follows. Process Management segment includes severance and plant closure costs related to
the closing of a valve plant due to consolidating operations within North America in response to weak market demand, severance costs
related to the consolidation of European measurement operations in order to obtain operational synergies, and several other reduction and
consolidation actions. Network Power segment includes severance and lease termination costs related to certain power systems operations
in Western Europe shifting to China and Eastern Europe in order to leverage product platforms and lower production and engineering
costs to remain competitive on a global basis. Climate Technologies segment includes severance costs related to workforce reductions in
the European temperature sensors and controls operations due to weakness in market demand. Appliance and Tools segment includes
severance and start-up and moving costs related to shifting certain motor manufacturing primarily from the United States to Mexico and
China in order to consolidate facilities and improve profitability, and severance related to consolidating manufacturing operations in the
professional tools business for operational efficiency. The Company expects rationalization expense for 2005 to be comparable to 2004
(approximately $130), including the costs to complete actions initiated before the end of 2004 and actions anticipated to be approved and
initiated during 2005.
Rationalization actions, including the following, were implemented during 2003 to expand in global markets and to increase overall
profitability by obtaining synergies and increasing operational efficiency. Process Management segment includes plant closure and
severance costs related to several reduction and consolidation actions primarily in North America and Europe. Network Power segment
includes severance costs related to European power systems operations. Appliance and Tools segment includes plant closure and start-up
and moving costs related to relocating certain industrial motor manufacturing primarily from the United States to Mexico and China and
fixed asset writedowns related to consolidating manufacturing operations in the jobsite and truck storage business.
Rationalization actions implemented during 2002 to increase overall profitability by obtaining synergies and increasing operational
efficiency include the following. Industrial Automation segment includes severance, vacant facility costs and start-up and moving costs
related to relocating certain EGS Electrical Group manufacturing primarily from the United States to Mexico, and severance and start-up
and moving costs related to consolidating operations in the power transmission business. Network Power segment includes severance
related to North American power systems operations and the European uninterruptible power supply business. Appliance and Tools
segment includes severance, start-up and moving costs and fixed asset writedowns related to consolidating motor manufacturing
operations and relocating commercial storage operations within North America.

(6) GOODWILL
Effective October 1, 2001, Emerson adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.” The statement requires, among other things, the discontinuation of goodwill amortization for business combinations before
July 1, 2001, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and completion of a transitional goodwill impairment test. Substantially all goodwill
was assigned to the reporting unit that acquired the business. Under the impairment test, if a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
estimated fair value, a goodwill impairment is recognized to the extent that the reporting unit’s carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of the goodwill. Fair value of reporting units were estimated using discounted cash flows and market multiples.
Emerson completed the transitional impairment test and recorded a non-cash, after-tax charge of $938 (net of $17 tax benefit), as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in 2002. The primary factors resulting in the impairment charge were the change in
the goodwill impairment criteria from an undiscounted to a discounted cash flow method and the sharp decline in the telecommunication
and computing equipment markets. The after-tax charge by segment was Network Power $831, Industrial Automation $59, and Process
Management $48.
The change in goodwill by business segment follows:
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Process
Management

Industrial
Automation

Network
Power

Climate
Technologies

Appliance
and Tools

Balance, September 30, 2002
Acquisitions
Dispositions
Impairment
Foreign exchange and other

$1,591

788

1,590

377

564
1

1

17

Balance, September 30, 2003
Acquisitions
Impairment
Foreign exchange and other

$1,603
14
(3)
24

836

1,543
210

378

582

44

17

2

9

Balance, September 30, 2004

$1,638

880

1,770

380

591

Emerson 2004

(24)
36

48

(46)
(54)
53

Total

4,910
1
(70)
(54)
155
4,942
224
(3)
96
5,259

(7) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company selectively uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest costs, commodity prices and currency exchange risk. The
Company does not hold derivatives for trading purposes. No credit loss is anticipated as the counterparties to these agreements are major
financial institutions with high credit ratings.
To efficiently manage interest costs, the Company utilizes interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of variable rate debt or fair value hedges
of fixed rate debt. Also as part of its hedging strategy, the Company utilizes purchased option and forward exchange contracts and
commodity swaps as cash flow hedges to minimize the impact of currency and commodity price fluctuations on transactions, cash flows
and firm commitments. These contracts for the sale or purchase of European and other currencies and the purchase of copper and other
commodities generally mature within one year.
Notional transaction amounts and fair values for the Company’s outstanding derivatives, by risk category and instrument type, as of
September 30, 2003 and 2004, are summarized as follows. Fair values of the derivatives do not consider the offsetting underlying
hedged item.
2003
Notional
Amount

Foreign currency:
Forwards
Options
Interest rate swaps
Commodity contracts

$1,193
$ 52
$ 338
$ 95

2004
Fair
Value

9
–
(1)
8

Notional
Amount

1,033
22
853
130

Fair
Value

13
–
(7)
18

Fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are estimated by reference to quoted prices from market sources and financial institutions,
as well as other valuation techniques. The estimated fair value of long-term debt (including current maturities) exceeded the related
carrying value by $223 and $335 at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair value and carrying value of an equity investment
in MKS Instruments, Inc., a publicly traded company, were $260 and $183, respectively, at September 30, 2003. The estimated fair value of
each of the Company’s other classes of financial instruments approximated the related carrying value at September 30, 2004 and 2003.

(8) SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LINES OF CREDIT
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt are summarized as follows:
2003

2004

Current maturities of long-term debt
Commercial paper
Payable to banks
Other

$ 4
117
41
229

622
118
24
138

Total

$391

902

Weighted average short-term borrowing interest rate at year end

1.6%

2.4%

In 2000, the Company issued 13 billion Japanese yen of commercial paper and simultaneously entered into a ten-year interest rate swap
which fixed the rate at 2.2 percent. The Company had 76 million and 138 million of British pound notes with interest rates of 4.7 percent
and 3.6 percent, swapped to $134 and $222 at U.S. commercial paper rates at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The Company and its subsidiaries maintained lines of credit amounting to $2,750 with various banks at September 30, 2004, to support
short-term borrowings and to assure availability of funds at prevailing interest rates. Lines of credit totaling $1,833 are effective until March
2009, with the remainder effective until March 2005. The 364-day credit lines do not contain any financial covenants, while the five-year
credit lines require the Company to maintain minimum stockholders’ equity of $4,000. The 364-day credit lines may be converted to a
one-year term loan within 60 days prior to maturity in March 2005 at the Company’s option. The credit line agreements are not subject to
termination based upon a change in credit ratings or a material adverse change. There were no borrowings against U.S. lines of credit in the
last three years. The Company’s subsidiaries maintained uncommitted bank credit facilities in various currencies of which approximately
$420 was unused at September 30, 2004. In some instances, borrowings against these credit facilities have been guaranteed by the
Company to facilitate funding at favorable interest rates.
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(9) LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt is summarized as follows:

7 /8% notes due June 2005
6.3% notes due November 2005
5 1/2% notes due September 2008
5% notes due October 2008
5.85% notes due March 2009
7 1/8% notes due August 2010
5.75% notes due November 2011
4.625% notes due October 2012
4 1/2% notes due May 2013
5 5/8% notes due November 2013
5% notes due December 2014
6% notes due August 2032
Other
7

Less current maturities
Total

2003

2004

$ 600
250
250
175
250
500
250
250
250
250
250
250
212

600
250
250
175
250
500
250
250
250
250
250
250
233

3,737
4

3,758
622

$3,733

3,136

In 1999, the Company issued $250 of 5.85%, ten-year notes that were simultaneously swapped to U.S. commercial paper rates. The
Company terminated the swap in 2001, establishing an effective interest rate of 5.7 percent. In 2000, the Company issued $600 of 7 7/8%,
five-year notes that were simultaneously swapped to floating U.S. commercial paper rates. The Company terminated the swap in 2001,
establishing an effective interest rate of 6.9 percent. During the first quarter of 2004, the Company swapped the $600 of 7 7/8% notes due
June 2005 to a floating rate based on 3-month LIBOR.
Long-term debt maturing during each of the four years after 2005 is $252, $1, $251 and $480, respectively. Total interest paid related to
short-term borrowings and long-term debt was approximately $233, $245 and $283 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
As of September 30, 2004, the Company could issue up to $2,500 in debt securities, preferred stock, common stock, warrants, share
purchase contracts and share purchase units under the shelf registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company may
sell securities in one or more separate offerings with the size, price and terms to be determined at the time of sale. The net proceeds from
the sale of the securities will be used for general corporate purposes, which may include, but are not limited to, working capital, capital
expenditures, financing acquisitions and the repayment of short or long-term borrowings. The net proceeds may be invested temporarily
until they are used for their stated purpose.

(10) RETIREMENT PLANS
Retirement plan expense includes the following components:
U.S. Plans

Defined benefit plans:
Service cost (benefits earned during the period)
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Net periodic pension expense
Defined contribution and multiemployer plans
Total retirement plan expense
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Non-U.S. Plans

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

$ 41
134
(178)
9

41
136
(187)
34

49
136
(196)
65

9
16
(21)
–

11
22
(22)
3

15
27
(21)
14

6
58

24
60

54
66

4
18

14
22

35
22

$ 64

84

120

22

36

57

2004

The reconciliations of the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligations and of the fair value of plan assets for defined benefit
pension plans follow:
U.S. Plans
2003

Non-U.S. Plans
2004

2003

2004

Benefit obligation, beginning
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Acquisitions/divestitures, net
Foreign currency and other

$1,871
41
136
309
(103)
9
1

2,264
49
136
(82)
(108)
67
4

342
11
22
76
(15)
1
89

526
15
27
2
(16)
6
47

Benefit obligation, ending

$2,264

2,330

526

607

Fair value of plan assets, beginning
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Acquisitions/divestitures, net
Foreign currency and other

$1,703
74
288
(103)
–
–

1,962
318
67
(108)
51
2

279
(14)
8
(15)
–
68

326
30
60
(16)
4
29

Fair value of plan assets, ending

$1,962

2,292

326

433

Plan assets in excess of (less than) benefit
obligation as of June 30
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized prior service costs (benefit)
Adjustment for fourth quarter contributions

$ (302)
1,137
12
1

(38)
872
10
51

(200)
187
(3)
11

(174)
176
(3)
1

Net amount recognized in the balance sheet

$ 848

895

Accumulated benefit obligation

$2,057

2,151

U.S. Plans

Weighted average assumptions used to
determine net pension expense:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase
Weighted average assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations as of June 30:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

(5)
475

–
540

Non-U.S. Plans

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

7.75%
9.00%
4.25%

7.25%
9.00%
3.75%

6.00%
8.50%
3.25%

6.4%
8.5%
3.9%

5.8%
8.3%
3.4%

5.2%
7.2%
3.3%

6.00%
3.25%

6.25%
3.25%

5.2%
3.3%

5.4%
3.1%

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, the pension assets recognized in the balance sheet were $883 and $843, and the pension liabilities
recognized in the balance sheet were $242 and $310, respectively; in addition, $254 and $310 were included in accumulated other
comprehensive income at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of the plans’ June 30 measurement date, the projected benefit
obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the retirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in
excess of plan assets were $1,009, $934 and $694, respectively, for 2004, and $905, $844 and $522, respectively, for 2003. As of the
June 30, 2004, measurement date, the fair value of plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation for the primary defined benefit
pension plan by approximately $250 and an additional $50 was contributed to the plan in the fourth quarter of 2004. If the performance of
the equity and bond markets in 2005 eliminates the $300 excess, the Company could be required to record an after-tax charge to equity of
approximately $550.
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The primary objectives for the investment of plan assets is to secure participant retirement benefits and to minimize reliance on
contributions as a source of benefit security. Plan assets are invested consistent with the provisions of prudence and diversification rules of
ERISA and with a long-term investment horizon. The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined by reviewing the investment
return of the plans for the past ten years and the historical return (since 1926) of a 70% equity / 30% debt asset allocation and evaluating
these returns in relation to expectations of various investment organizations to determine whether long-term future returns are expected
to differ significantly from the past. The Company’s pension plan asset allocations at June 30, 2003 and 2004, and target weighted-average
allocations are as follows:
U.S. Plans

Asset category
Equity securities
Debt securities
Other

Non-U.S. Plans

2003

2004

Target

2003

2004

Target

66%
34%
–

70%
30%
–

70%
30%
–

52%
36%
12%

53%
37%
10%

55%
35%
10%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

The Company estimates that future benefit payments for the U.S. plans will be as follows: $119 in 2005, $126 in 2006, $134 in 2007, $141
in 2008, $150 in 2009 and $780 in total over the five years 2010 through 2014. Using foreign exchange rates as of September 30, 2004,
the Company estimates that future benefit payments for the non-U.S. plans will be as follows: $20 in 2005, $22 in 2006, $23 in 2007, $25 in
2008, $26 in 2009 and $156 in total over the five years 2010 through 2014. In 2005, the Company expects to contribute less than $100 to
the retirement plans.

(11) POSTRETIREMENT PLANS
The Company sponsors unfunded postretirement benefit plans (primarily health care) for U.S. retirees and their dependents.
Net postretirement plan expense for the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004, follows:
2002

2003

2004

Service cost
Interest cost
Net amortization

$ 6
26
–

7
27
8

5
25
19

Net postretirement plan expense

$32

42

49

2003

2004

$377
7
27
46
(40)
9

426
5
25
30
(37)
(5)

426
(89)
(8)

444
(101)
8

The reconciliations of the actuarial present value of accumulated postretirement benefit obligations follow:

Benefit obligation, beginning
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid
Acquisitions/divestitures and other
Benefit obligation, ending
Unrecognized net loss
Unrecognized prior service (costs) benefit
Postretirement benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet

$329

351

The assumed discount rates used in measuring the obligations as of September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, were 5.75 percent, 6.00 percent
and 7.00 percent, respectively. The assumed health care cost trend rate for 2005 was 9.5 percent, declining to 5.0 percent in the year 2013.
The assumed health care cost trend rate for 2004 was 10.0 percent, declining to 5.0 percent in the year 2013. A one-percentage-point
increase or decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would increase or decrease the obligation as of September 30,
2004, and the 2004 postretirement plan expense by less than five percent. The Company estimates that future benefit payments will be
$39 annually for 2005 through 2009, and $195 in total over the five years 2010 through 2014.
The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) was signed into law on December 8, 2003. In
accordance with FASB Staff Position 106-2, neither the amount of postretirement benefit expense nor the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation in the financial statements and accompanying notes reflects the effects of the Act on the Company’s postretirement
benefit plans. The Company does not expect the effects of the Act to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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(12) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Emerson is a party to a number of pending legal proceedings and claims, including those involving general and product liability and other
matters, several of which claim substantial amounts of damages. The Company accrues for such liabilities when it is probable that future
costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are based on developments to date, management’s
estimates of the outcomes of these matters, its experience in contesting, litigating and settling other similar matters, and any related
insurance coverage.
Although it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of the matters discussed above, historically, the Company has been successful in
defending itself against claims and suits that have been brought against it. The Company will continue to defend itself vigorously in all such
matters. While the Company believes a material adverse impact is unlikely, given the inherent uncertainty of litigation, a remote possibility
exists that a future adverse development could have a material adverse impact on the Company.
The Company enters into indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business in which the indemnified party is held harmless
and is reimbursed for losses incurred from claims by third parties. In connection with divestitures of certain assets or businesses, the
Company often provides indemnities to the buyer with respect to certain matters including, for example, environmental liabilities and
unidentified tax liabilities related to periods prior to the disposition. Due to the uncertain nature of the indemnities, the maximum liability
cannot be quantified. Liabilities for obligations are recorded when probable and when they can be reasonably estimated. Historically, the
Company has not made significant payments for these obligations.
At September 30, 2004, there were no known contingent liabilities (including guarantees, pending litigation, taxes and other claims) that
management believes will be material in relation to the Company’s financial statements, nor were there any material commitments outside
the normal course of business.

(13) INCOME TAXES
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes consist of the following:
2002

2003

2004

United States
Non-U.S.

$1,124
466

790
624

1,022
830

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes

$1,590

1,414

1,852

2002

2003

2004

$204
11
109

170
7
154

132
26
229

73
17
(20)

185
5
18

401

595

2002

2003

2004

Federal corporate statutory rate
State and local taxes, less federal tax benefit
Export benefit
Foreign rate differential
Goodwill
Capital gains (losses)
Other

35.0%
1.4
(1.7)
(3.0)
–
.4
.2

35.0%
1.1
(1.7)
(4.2)
1.3
(4.5)
1.3

35.0%
1.1
(1.4)
(3.8)
–
–
1.2

Effective income tax rate

32.3%

28.3%

32.1%

The principal components of income tax expense follow:

Current:
Federal
State and local
Non-U.S.
Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Non-U.S.
Income tax expense

173
26
(9)
$514

The federal corporate statutory rate is reconciled to the Company’s effective income tax rate as follows:
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The principal items that gave rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities follow:
2003

2004

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities
Postretirement and postemployment benefits
Employee compensation and benefits
NOL and tax credits
Capital loss benefit
Other

$ 199
132
98
241
238
150

181
137
114
205
74
158

Total

$1,058

869

Valuation allowance

$ (127)

(121)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Leveraged leases
Pension
Intangibles
Other

$ (298)
(137)
(214)
(156)
(99)

(291)
(128)
(244)
(200)
(100)

Total

$ (904)

(963)

Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

$

(215)

27

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, net current deferred tax assets were $255 and $435, and net noncurrent deferred tax
liabilities were $470 and $408. Total income taxes paid were approximately $340 (net of the capital loss benefit received of $164), $310
and $320 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company received approximately $164 of the capital loss benefit in cash in 2004 due
to the carryback of a capital loss against prior capital gains and application to current year capital gains; the remaining $74 capital loss
carryforward can be utilized through 2008. In addition, the majority of the net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely, while
the remainder expire over varying periods, and the Company expects to carryback $45 of tax credits to prior years (see Note 3).

(14) COMMON STOCK
The Company has various stock option plans that permit key officers and employees to purchase common stock at specified prices. Options
are granted at 100 percent of the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, generally vest one-third each year
and expire ten years from the date of grant. At September 30, 2004, approximately 10.2 million options were available for grant under
these plans. Changes in the number of shares subject to option during 2002, 2003 and 2004, follow (shares in thousands):
2002

2004

Average
Price

Shares

Average
Price

Shares

Average
Price

Shares

Beginning of year
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled

$48.42
$52.85
$40.86
$52.85

9,088
2,112
(591)
(196)

$49.66
$46.50
$35.76
$52.80

10,413
335
(444)
(245)

$50.09
$56.21
$42.20
$53.48

10,059
307
(1,133)
(162)

End of year

$49.66

$50.09

10,059

$51.22

9,071

Exercisable at year end

46

2003

Emerson 2004

10,413
6,016

7,610

7,914

Summarized information regarding stock options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2004, follows (shares in thousands):
Outstanding
Range of
Exercise Prices

Average
Shares Contractual Life

up to $44
$45 to 54
$55 to 74

3,046
3,919
2,106

Total

9,071

Exercisable
Average
Price

Shares

Average
Price

3.9 years
6.3
4.6

$43.15
$52.19
$61.10

3,046
2,862
2,006

$43.15
$52.40
$61.05

5.1

$51.22

7,914

$51.03

During 2004 and 2003, respectively, 307 thousand and 335 thousand options were granted, resulting in $1.7 and $0.7 of compensation
expense, pursuant to FAS 123, which Emerson adopted effective October 1, 2002. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants: risk-free
interest rate of 3.1 percent, 2.8 percent and 4.2 percent, dividend yield of 2.8 percent, 3.4 percent and 2.9 percent for 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively, and expected volatility of 25 percent and expected life of five years for all years. The weighted average fair value of
options granted was $11.13, $8.13 and $11.03 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company’s Incentive Shares Plans authorize the distribution of common stock to key management personnel subject to certain
conditions and restrictions. Upon accomplishment of the five-year performance objectives, 2,085,314 shares were distributed to
participants in 2002, including 1,216,985 shares paid in cash; additionally, participants elected to defer 97,604 shares for future
distribution. At September 30, 2004, 1,531,987 shares were outstanding with restriction periods of three to ten years, including 97,500
shares issued in 2004. In addition, 1,074,219 rights to receive common shares have been awarded, including 2,000 rights awarded in
2004, which are contingent upon accomplishing certain objectives by 2005; 2,342,786 rights to receive common shares were also awarded
in 2004, and are contingent upon accomplishing certain objectives by 2007. At September 30, 2004, approximately 1.1 million shares
remained available for award under these plans. Compensation expense charged against income for the Company’s Incentive Shares Plans
was $65, $28 and $27 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
At September 30, 2004, 23,889,014 shares of common stock were reserved, primarily for issuance under the Company’s stock plans.
During 2004, 2,631,200 treasury shares were acquired and 905,283 treasury shares were issued.
Approximately 1.2 million preferred shares are reserved for issuance under a Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Plan. Under certain conditions
involving the acquisition of or an offer for 20 percent or more of the Company’s common stock, all holders of Rights, except an acquiring
entity, would be entitled (i) to purchase, at an exercise price of $260, common stock of the Company or an acquiring entity with a value
twice the exercise price, or (ii) at the option of the Board, to exchange each Right for one share of common stock. The Rights remain in
existence until November 1, 2008, unless earlier redeemed (at one-half cent per Right), exercised or exchanged under the terms of the plan.

(15) BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company designs and supplies product technology and delivers engineering services in a wide range of industrial, commercial and
consumer markets around the world. The divisions of the Company are primarily organized based on the nature of the products and
services provided. The Process Management segment includes systems and software, measurement and analytical instrumentation,
valves, actuators and regulators, and services and solutions for automated industrial processes. The Industrial Automation segment
includes industrial motors and drives, power transmission equipment, alternators, materials joining and precision cleaning, fluid power
and control, materials testing, and electrical distribution equipment. The Network Power segment consists of uninterruptible power
supplies, power conditioning and electrical switching equipment, and precision cooling, site monitoring and connectivity systems. The
Climate Technologies segment consists of compressors, temperature sensors and controls, thermostats, flow controls, and remote
monitoring services. The Appliance and Tools segment includes general and special purpose motors and controls, appliances and appliance
components, as well as hand and plumbing tools, and storage products.
The primary income measure used for assessing performance and making operating decisions is earnings before interest and income taxes.
Intersegment sales approximate market prices. Accounting method differences between segment reporting and the consolidated financial
statements primarily include management fees allocated to segments based on a percentage of sales and the accounting for pension and
other retirement plans. Gains and losses from divestitures of businesses are included in Corporate and other. Corporate assets primarily
include cash and equivalents, investments, pensions, deferred charges, and certain fixed assets.
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Summarized information about the Company’s operations by business segment and by geographic area follows:

Business Segments
(See Notes 3, 4, 5 and 6)
Sales

Process Management
Industrial Automation
Network Power
Climate Technologies
Appliance and Tools
Discontinued operations (a)
Differences in accounting methods
Corporate and other (b)
Sales eliminations / Interest
Total

Earnings

Total Assets

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

$ 3,396
2,500
2,465
2,389
3,437

3,394
2,600
2,316
2,614
3,453

3,703
2,936
2,692
2,983
3,749

387
297
119
333
456

388
330
168
386
479

476
391
297
467
530

3,506
2,354
2,878
1,876
2,393

3,531
2,422
2,721
1,871
2,388

3,634
2,503
3,234
1,887
2,440

1,592
25
149
57
(233)

1,751
12
127
(245)
(231)

2,161
–
126
(225)
(210)

13,007

12,933

13,698

1,538

2,261

2,663

1,590

1,414

1,852

14,545

15,194

16,361

14,187
(76)

(363)
$13,748

14,377 16,063
(41)
–

(378)
13,958

(448)
15,615

(a)

Discontinued operations eliminates Dura-Line’s sales and operating losses, which are included in the Network Power segment and the
geographic amounts.

(b)

Corporate and other included gains from divestitures of $27, $24 and $231 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Depreciation and
Amortization Expense

Intersegment Sales
2002

Capital Expenditures

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

2002

2003

2004

Process Management
Industrial Automation
Network Power
Climate Technologies
Appliance and Tools
Corporate and other

$

3
12
14
25
309

2
15
4
26
331

3
14
9
32
390

124
93
81
99
134
10

114
97
71
107
136
9

117
96
70
120
141
13

76
67
33
85
105
18

69
55
34
65
102
12

75
67
36
94
108
20

Total

$363

378

448

541

534

557

384

337

400

Geographic
Sales by Destination
2002
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United States
Europe
Asia
Latin America
Other regions
Discontinued operations (a)

$ 8,073
2,766
1,563
525
897
(76)

Total

$13,748
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2003

7,687
3,169
1,712
487
944
(41)
13,958

Property, Plant and Equipment
2004

2002

2003

2004

8,262
3,649
2,085
533
1,086

2,162
489
280
130
55

1,970
502
297
124
69

1,880
539
307
135
76

15,615

3,116

2,962

2,937

(16) OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Items reported in earnings during the years ended September 30, 2002, 2003 and 2004, include the following:

Depreciation
Intangible asset amortization
Research and development
Rent expense

2002

2003

2004

$457
$ 84
$474
$216

463
71
464
227

478
79
486
233

The Company leases computers, transportation equipment and various other property under operating lease agreements. The
minimum annual rentals under noncancelable long-term leases, exclusive of maintenance, taxes, insurance and other operating costs, will
approximate $117 in 2005, $85 in 2006, $52 in 2007, $39 in 2008 and $25 in 2009.

Other assets, other are summarized as follows:
2003

2004

Pension plans
Equity and other investments
Intellectual property and customer relationships
Capitalized software
Leveraged leases
Other

$ 843
336
104
147
139
221

883
223
205
148
124
166

Total

$1,790

1,749

2003

2004

$ 382
$ 148

432
180

2003

2004

Deferred income taxes
Postretirement plans, excluding current portion
Retirement plans
Minority interest
Other

$ 503
309
356
114
302

528
306
285
126
403

Total

$1,584

1,648

Items reported in accrued expenses include the following:

Employee compensation
Product warranty
Other liabilities are summarized as follows:
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(17) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
First
Quarter

Net sales
Gross profit
Earnings from continuing
operations
Net earnings
Earnings from continuing
operations per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Net earnings per
common share:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per common share
Common stock prices:
High
Low

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal
Year

2003

2004

2003

2004

2003

2004

2003

2004

2003

$3,226
$1,143

3,600
1,282

3,465
1,211

3,859
1,356

3,573
1,250

4,036
1,439

3,694
1,294

4,120
1,489

$ 218
$ 217

244
244

241
236

318
318

278
360

341
341

276
276

354
354

1,013
1,089

1,257
1,257

$ 0.52
$ 0.52

0.58
0.58

0.58
0.57

0.76
0.75

0.66
0.66

0.81
0.81

0.66
0.66

0.85
0.84

2.42
2.41

3.00
2.98

$ 0.52
$ 0.52

0.58
0.58

0.56
0.56

0.76
0.75

0.86
0.85

0.81
0.81

0.66
0.66

0.85
0.84

2.60
2.59

3.00
2.98

$.3925

.4000

.3925

.4000

.3925

.4000

.3925

.4000

1.57

1.60

$53.08
$42.42

64.95
52.73

52.72
44.43

68.46
59.39

54.41
46.15

63.55
56.56

56.79
50.47

64.02
59.08

56.79
42.42

68.46
52.73

2004

13,958 15,615
4,898 5,566

The operating results of Dura-Line are classified as discontinued operations for 2003. See Note 3 for information regarding the Company’s
acquisition and divestiture activities.
Emerson Electric Co. common stock (symbol EMR) is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Chicago Stock Exchange.
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Emerson Electric Co.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Emerson Electric Co. and subsidiaries
as of September 30, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2004.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Emerson Electric Co. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2004 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended September 30, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” in the year ended
September 30, 2002.

St. Louis, Missouri
November 1, 2004
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Eleven-Year Summary
EMERSON ELECTRIC CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Years ended September 30
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)
2004

2003

Summary of

Net sales

$15,615

13,958

13,748(a)

Operations

Gross profit

$ 5,566

4,898

4,809(a)

Interest expense

$

234

246

250(a)

Earnings from continuing operations

$ 1,257

1,013

1,076(a)

8.1%

7.3%

7.8%(a)

Net earnings

$ 1,257

1,089

122(a)

Operating cash flow

$ 2,216

1,731

1,818(a)

18.4%

17.9%

17.9%(b)

Percent of net sales

Return on average stockholders’ equity
Per Share of

Diluted:
Earnings from continuing operations

$

2.98

2.41

2.56(a)

Net earnings

$

2.98

2.59

0.29(a)

Net earnings, excluding goodwill amortization

$

2.98

2.59

2.52(b)

Cash dividends

$

1.60

1.57

1.55(a)

Book value

$ 17.26

15.34

13.65(a)

Year-End

Operating working capital

$ 1,633

1,778

1,741(a)

Financial

Percent of net sales

10.5%

12.7%

12.6%(a)

Property, plant and equipment, net

$ 2,937

2,962

3,116(a)

Total assets

$16,361

15,194

14,545(a)

Long-term debt

$ 3,136

3,733

2,990(a)

Stockholders’ equity

$ 7,238

6,460

5,741(a)

Total debt to total capital

35.8%

39.0%

44.2%(a)

Net debt to net capital

27.0%

34.5%

42.0%(a)

Common Stock

Position

Other Data

Capital expenditures

$

400

337

384(a)

Depreciation

$

478

463

457(a)

Total taxes, including income taxes

$ 1,044

843

915(a)

Salaries and wages

$ 3,320

3,153

3,107(a)

Average number of employees

107,800

106,700

111,500(a)

Approximate number of stockholders at year end

30,200

31,800

32,700(a)

Average common shares— diluted (in thousands)

422,195

420,918

420,891(a)

Note: All share and per share data reflect the 1997 two-for-one stock split. The operating results of Dura-Line are classified as discontinued operations for 2000-2003.
(a) Includes the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $938 ($2.23 per share).
(b) Before change in accounting principle.
(c) Includes a $377 charge ($260 after-tax, or $0.61 per share), of which $358 ($248 after-tax, or $0.58 per share) was reported in continuing operations, primarily for
the disposition of facilities and exiting of product lines.
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2001

2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

1994

15,311(c)

15,351

14,270

13,447

12,299

11,150

10,013

8,607

(c)

5,324

5,473

5,076

4,852

4,433

3,985

3,533

3,054

304(c)

288

190

152

121

127

111

89

(c)

1,409

1,314

1,229

1,122

1,019

908

789

6.8%(c)

9.2%

9.2%

9.1%

9.1%

9.1%

9.1%

9.2%

1,032(c)

1,422

1,314

1,229

1,122

1,019

908

789

1,708(c)

1,840

1,811

1,652

1,499

1,317

1,142

1,097

16.5%(c)

22.6%

21.9%

21.9%

20.8%

19.9%

19.7%

19.1%

2.44(c)

3.27

3.00

2.77

2.50

2.25

2.01

1.75

(c)

2.40

3.30

3.00

2.77

2.50

2.25

2.01

1.75

2.75(c)

3.63

3.27

2.99

2.69

2.42

2.14

1.85

1,049

(c)

1.53

1.43

1.30

1.18

1.08

.98

.89

.78

14.57(c)

14.98

14.27

13.24

12.30

11.96

10.88

9.71

2,033(c)

2,336

2,222

2,294

2,098

1,984

1,773

1,531

13.1%(c)

15.0%

15.6%

17.1%

17.1%

17.8%

17.7%

17.8%

3,288(c)

3,243

3,154

3,012

2,735

2,451

2,135

1,947

15,046(c)

15,164

13,624

12,660

11,463

10,481

9,399

8,215

(c)

2,256

2,248

1,317

1,057

571

773

209

280

6,114(c)

6,403

6,181

5,803

5,421

5,353

4,871

4,342

43.5%(c)

41.8%

34.6%

30.8%

27.1%

24.5%

24.7%

21.7%

41.5%(c)

40.2%

32.7%

29.0%

24.9%

22.9%

23.3%

20.0%

554(c)

692

592

603

575

514

421

332

(c)

462

454

447

406

369

339

303

274

982(c)

1,196

1,126

1,093

1,034

963

862

762

(c)

3,376

3,171

3,003

2,771

2,569

2,380

2,156

124,500(c)

3,389

123,400

116,900

111,800

100,700

86,400

78,900

73,900

33,700(c)

35,000

36,300

37,200

35,900

29,800

31,000

31,800

429,452(c)

431,395

438,397

444,121

449,501

452,754

451,946

452,747
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Stockholders Information
Stockholder Inquiries and Services
Inquiries regarding dividend payments, loss, or nonreceipt of a
dividend check, stock transfers (including name changes, gifts,
and inheritances), lost stock certificates, Form 1099 information,
and address changes should be directed to the Registrar and
Transfer Agent.

Registrar and Transfer Agent
By Mail:
Mellon Investor Services
Attention: Emerson Electric Co.
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606
By Phone: Toll-Free (888) 213-0970
By Internet: www.melloninvestor.com
All other inquiries should be addressed to:
Investor Relations Department, Station 2197
Emerson
8000 W. Florissant Ave.
P.O. Box 4100
St. Louis, MO 63136-8506
Telephone: (314) 553-2197

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
The Plan is administered by Mellon Bank, N.A., to individual
investors who want a convenient, low-cost way to purchase or
sell Emerson Electric Co. common stock (NYSE:EMR). You can
participate in the Plan if you are a registered holder of Emerson
common stock. If you do not own Emerson common stock, you
can make your initial purchase directly through the Plan. The
Plan provides you with the opportunity to reinvest dividends
and is an alternative to traditional methods of buying, holding,
and selling Emerson common stock. The Plan is not sponsored
or administered by Emerson. For further information and an
authorization form, contact the Registrar and Transfer Agent.

Direct Deposit of Dividends
Stockholders may elect to have dividends electronically deposited
into a checking or savings account at a bank, savings and loan
institution, or credit union. For details, contact the Registrar and
Transfer Agent.

Safe Harbor Statement

Low-Cost Investment Plan
Investors may also purchase their initial shares of Emerson stock
through NAIC’s Low-Cost Investment Plan. For details contact:
National Association of Investors Corp. (NAIC)
711 W. Thirteen Mile Rd.
Madison Heights, MI 48071
Toll-Free Telephone: (877) 275-6242 Ext. 331

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at 10 a.m.,
Tuesday, February 1, 2005, in Emerson’s World Headquarters
Building, 8000 W. Florissant Ave., St. Louis, Missouri. Notice of the
meeting, proxy statement, and proxy were sent to stockholders
with this annual report.

10-K Report
A copy of the Company’s 2004 Annual Report filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K is available to
stockholders without charge. To obtain a copy, please contact the
Investor Relations Department. The Company’s chief executive
officer and chief financial officer have furnished the certifications
required with the Form 10-K.

Internet Access
Corporate news releases, Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K, the annual
report, and other information about the Company are available
through Emerson’s Web site on the Internet. It may be accessed
as follows: http://www.gotoemerson.com

Duplicate Mailings
When stockholders own shares in more than one account or when
several stockholders live at the same address, they may receive
multiple copies of the annual report. To eliminate multiple copies,
write to the Registrar and Transfer Agent.

Environmental Programs
Information on Emerson’s environmental programs may be
obtained by contacting:
Environmental Affairs Department, Station 3800
Emerson
8000 W. Florissant Ave.
P.O. Box 4100
St. Louis, MO 63136-8506

This Annual Report contains various forward-looking statements and includes assumptions concerning Emerson’s operations, future results, and prospects. These forward-looking
statements are based on current expectations, are subject to risk and uncertainties, and Emerson undertakes no obligation to update any such statement to reflect later developments. In connection with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Emerson provides the following cautionary statement identifying
important economic, political, and technological factors, among others, changes of which could cause the actual results or events to differ materially from those set forth in or
implied by the forward-looking statements and related assumptions.
Such factors include the following: (i) current and future business environment, including interest rates and capital and consumer spending; (ii) volatility of the end markets served,
as demonstrated by the recent decline in the electronics and telecommunications market; (iii) competitive factors and competitor responses to Emerson initiatives; (iv) development and market introduction of anticipated new products; (v) availability of raw materials and purchased components; (vi) government laws and regulations, including taxes;
(vii) outcome of pending and future litigation, including environmental compliance; (viii) stable governments and business conditions in emerging economies; (ix) penetration
of emerging economies; (x) favorable environment for acquisitions, domestic and foreign, including regulatory requirements and market values of candidates; (xi) integration of
acquisitions; (xii) favorable access to capital markets; and (xiii) execution of cost-reduction efforts.

; Emerson; Emerson. Consider It Solved; Process Management; Climate Technologies; Network Power; Industrial Automation; Appliance and Tools;
Copeland Scroll; Ovation; PlantWeb; RIDGID; SmartProcess; and their related designs and logotypes are trademarks, service marks, and/or trade names of Emerson, its subsidiaries,
affiliates, investments, or joint ventures.
ASDA/Wal-Mart; BP; China Mobile; OOCL; SECCO; Shanghai Petrochemical Corporation; Sinopec; The Home Depot; Thermo-King; and their related designs and logotypes used
within this Annual Report are the trade names, service/trademarks, and/or logotypes of the respective companies and are not owned by nor affiliated with Emerson.
© Emerson Electric Co. 2004, All Rights Reserved
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